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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after

due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-
sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market

in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of

this report.

This report, for which the Directors (the “Directors”) of Noble Engineering Group
Holdings Limited (the “Company” and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM (the “GEM
Listing Rules’) of the Stock Exchange for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that, to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in
this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not misleading or
deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any

statement in this report misleading.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors (the “Directors”) of Noble
Engineering Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”), | am pleased to present our annual
report for the year ended 31 March 2022.

The Group performs wet trades works as a subcontractor in Hong Kong.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group recorded a total revenue of
approximately HK$275.6 million, representing a decrease of approximately
15.6% as compared to approximately HK$326.7 million for the year ended 31
March 2021. For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group recorded a net loss
of approximately HK$36.4 million as compared to a net loss of approximately
HK$8.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2021. The Directors are of the view
that the increase of net loss was mainly attributable to the decrease in gross

profit and gross profit margin for the year ended 31 March 2022.

The Directors are of the view that the general outlook of the industry and
the business environment in which the Group operates remains difficult and
challenging. The ongoing outbreak of COVID-19 has had drastic effect on
the Hong Kong economy and construction industry in terms of cash flows,
operational efficiencies and completion progress of certain projects, including
supply chain disruptions, workforce shortages due to illness and preventative
quarantines and work stoppages due to measures imposed by the customers.
Construction market in Hong Kong has been experiencing adjustment under
weakened market sentiment. The Group has incurred additional costs for
additional safe management measures on site, such as safe distancing measures
and regular periodic COVID-19 swab tests, and to retain and recruit more
workers in view of the shortage of manpower due to border closures. Despite
of the short-term challenges and uncertainty in the industry, we will remain
focused on our long-term goals and sustainable developments. The Board
will take appropriate measures to improve operating efficiency and a prudent
approach in tendering profitable projects in order to lessen any adverse impacts

on the Group.

The Group intends to implement a more prudent approach in project selection
in the upcoming year; that is to say, the Group will selectively place tenders
to well-established contractors and well-known business partners to ensure

projects on hand remain steady and receivables are sound.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERS

The Group will continue to improve our operating efficiency and profitability
of our business and expand our fleet of machinery and equipment, which will
enhance the basis of our technical capability to bid for future projects. The
Group will also proactively seek opportunities to expand our customer base and
market share and undertake more wet trades projects which will enhance value

to the shareholders and stakeholders of the Company.

The Group may consider exploring other business opportunities and/or
expanding the geographical coverage of the principal business of the Group
beyond the Hong Kong market in order to enhance our future development
and to strengthen the revenue bases of the Group. We will be ready to dive
into any opportunities as they arise or come to our attention. We expect that
diversification of our business will provide a better return to the shareholders of

the Company.

The Board believes the Group’s business strategy and industry expertise could

generate and contribute greater value to Company shareholders and investors.

Tse Chun Yuen

Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 June 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group performs wet trades works as a subcontractor in Hong Kong.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group recorded a net loss of
approximately HK$36.4 million as compared to a net loss of approximately
HK$8.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2021.

OUTLOOK

The Directors are aware that the ongoing outbreak of COVID-19 has added
substantial uncertainties and challenge to the Hong Kong economy and further
contributed to a downward trend in the Hong Kong construction market.
These had resulted in overall delay in the work status of the Group’s projects on
hand and delayed the Group'’s cash flows from operation. Although the overall
business environment has gradually improved during the year ended 31 March
2022, the Group's tendering results, were still not satisfying. The intensifying
market competition may lead to smaller number of successful tenders and
quotations and lower value of contracts awarded to the Group. The Group's
gross profit margin is also under pressure from competitive project pricing
on tenders and quotations, which in turn affects financial performance of the

Group.

In order to maintain its market share in the wet trades works industry, the
Group will continue to closely monitor the market and respond to changes in
market conditions. The Directors are confident that with the Group's reputation
in the wet trades works industry and its experienced management team, the
Group is in a good position to compete with its competitors. The Group will
continue to improve its competitiveness in the market by continuing to provide
quality works to its customers. The Group will also continue to proactively seek
opportunities to expand its customer base and its market share and undertake

more wet trades projects which will enhance value to the Shareholders.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER W& DN

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Directors believe that there are potential risks and uncertainties involved
in the operations, some of which are beyond the Group’s control. The Directors

believe the more significant risks relating to the business are as follows:

Our revenue is mainly derived from projects which are non-recurring in
nature and any failure of our Group to secure tender contracts would

affect our operations and financial results;

Error or inaccuracy in estimation of project duration or costs when

determining the tender price may result in substantial loss incurred by us;

If progress payment or retention money is not paid to us in full as a result
of disputes over our work done, our liquidity position may be adversely
affected; and

Our performance depends on trends and developments in the wet

trades industry.

A detailed discussion of the risk factors is set out in the section headed “Risk
Factors” in the prospectus of the Company dated 19 September 2017 (the

"Prospectus’).

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, the Group has
complied in material respects with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the year
ended 31 March 2022, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with

applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s environmental, social and
governance ("ESG") strategy and reporting. The Board is responsible for the
Group's ESG risk management and internal control systems to ensure that the

ESG strategies and reporting requirements are met.

The details of ESG performance of the Group are set out in the ESG Report on
pages 35 to 50 of this report.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RELATIONSHIP WITH CUSTOMERS,
SUPPLIERS, SUBCONTRACTORS AND
EMPLOYEES

The Group maintains a good relationship with its employees and certain
policies have been implemented to ensure that its employees are provided with
competitive remuneration, good welfare benefits and continuous professional
training. The Group also maintains good relationships with its customers and
suppliers, without whom success in the Group’s production and operation

would be at risk.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group's revenue amounted to
approximately HK$275.6 million, which decreased by approximately 15.6%
as compared to the year ended 31 March 2021. The decrease in revenue was
primarily attributable to (i) substantial completion of the projects on hand
during the year ended 31 March 2021 and competitive construction project
pricing arising from intense market competition; and (ii) delay of certification
of the Group's certain work done by the relevant customers as the relevant
customers required additional time for certification of the work done involved in

several variation orders of the relevant project.

Gross loss/profit and gross loss/profit margin

The gross loss of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 amounted to
approximately HK$23.9 million, turning profit into loss as compared to a gross
profit of approximately HK$3.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2021. The
gross loss margin for the year ended 31 March 2022 was approximately 8.7%,
compared to the gross profit margin for the year ended 31 March 2021 of
approximately 1.1%. The decrease in gross profit margin was mainly due to (i)
competitive project pricing arising from intense market competition; (ii) the
decrease in government subsidy received under the “Anti-epidemic Fund” due
to the outbreak of the COVID-19; and (iii) the increase in direct costs incurred
from (a) unexpected additional subcontracting costs incurred to deal with
unexpected changes to the on-site arrangements for certain construction
projects of the Group; and (b) delays in certain projects (mainly for projects

located in Tseung Kwan O and Tai Wai).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEERN WKk

Other income and gain

Other income and gain decreased by approximately HK$366,000 from
approximately HK$373,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021 to approximately
HK$7,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022. The decrease was mainly due to
the decrease of bank interest income and reversal of loss allowance on financial

assets and contract assets for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Administrative and other operating expenses

Administrative and other operating expenses increased by approximately
HK$0.5 million or 4.0% from approximately HK$11.8 million for the year ended
31 March 2021 to approximately HK$12.3 million for the year ended 31 March

2022. The increase was mainly due to increase in staff costs.

Finance costs

Finance costs decreased by 42.3% to approximately HK$15,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2022 from approximately HK$26,000 for the year ended 31
March 2021, which was mainly due to decrease in interest on bank overdrafts
for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Loss for the year

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group recorded loss attributed to
owners of the Company of approximately HK$36.4 million as compared to the
year ended 31 March 2021 of approximately HK$8.5 million. The increase was
mainly attributable to the decrease in revenue and gross profit for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

Final dividend

The Directors do not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2022 (2021: nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Capital structure

As at 31 March 2022, the total issued share capital of the Company was
HK$10,470,000 (2021: HK$6,980,000) divided into 209,400,000 (31 March 2021:
698,000,000) ordinary shares of HK$0.05 (31 March 2021: HK$0.01) each.

The share capital of the Company only comprises ordinary shares.

Share consolidation

As disclosed in the Company’s circular dated 12 April 2021 and announcement
dated 28 April 2021, the authorised and issued shares of the Company were
consolidated on the basis that every five (5) issued and unissued ordinary shares
of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company into one (1) consolidated
share of HK$0.05 each.

Issue of shares under Rights Issue

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 24 March 2021 and the
prospectus dated 12 May 2021, the Company proposed to implement a rights
issue (the "Rights Issue’) on the basis of one (1) rights share for every two (2)
consolidated shares held on a record date at a subscription price of HK$0.215

per rights share.

On 11 June 2021, the Company issued 69,800,000 ordinary shares upon
completion of the Rights Issue. Accordingly, the number of shares of the
Company increased from 139,600,000 shares to 209,400,000 shares. The gross
proceeds from the Rights Issue were approximately HK$15.0 million. The net
proceeds after deducting related expenses of approximately HK$1.2 million

were approximately HK$13.8 million.

Detailed terms of the Rights Issue and its results were set out in the Company's
prospectus dated 12 May 2021 and the results announcement dated 31 May
2021, respectively.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER W& DN

As at 31 March 2022, the actual use of the net proceeds of the Rights Issue are as

follows:

Expansion and development of the existing BEMERASEREES
businesses

Future investment opportunities KRR EMS

General working capital —MREEES

As at 31 March 2022, approximately HK$8.3 million out of the net proceeds from
the Rights Issue had been used. The remaining unutilised net proceeds as at 31
March 2022 were placed as deposits with licensed banks in Hong Kong and are
currently intended to be applied in the manner consistent with the proposed
allocations as set out in the prospectus dated 12 May 2021. The remaining

unutilised net proceeds are expected to be utilised by 31 December 2022.

Liquidity, financial resource and funding

We financed our operations primarily through cash generated from our
operating and financing activities. During the year ended 31 March 2022, we did
not have any bank borrowings (2021: nil). As at 31 March 2022, we had cash and
cash equivalents of approximately HK$39.3 million (2021: HK$37.6 million) and a
pledged bank deposit of approximately HK$5.2 million (2021: HK$5.2 million).

Our primary uses of cash and cash equivalents have been and are expected to

continue to be operating costs and capital expenditure.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Gearing ratio
The gearing ratio for the Group as at 31 March 2022 was nil (2021: nil). It was

calculated by dividing total obligations under total bank borrowings by total

equity as at the end of each reporting period multiplied by 100%.

Treasury policy
The Directors will continue to follow a prudent policy in managing the Group's

bank balances and maintain strong and healthy liquidity to ensure that the

Group is well placed to take advantage of future growth opportunities.

Significant investments held, material acquisitions and
disposals of subsidiaries, associated companies and joint
ventures

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any significant
investments, material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries, associated

companies or joint ventures during the year ended 31 March 2022.

Future plans for material investments and capital assets

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have other plans for material

investments or capital assets as of 31 March 2022.

Foreign exchange exposure

Most of our Group's transactions are denominated in Hong Kong dollars which
is the functional and presentation currency of the Group. As such, the Directors
are of the view that the Group does not have significant exposure to foreign

exchange risk. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging

policy.

Charge of Group assets

As at 31 March 2022, aside from a pledged bank deposit of approximately
HKS$5.2 million (2021: HK$5.2 million), no asset of the Group was pledged as

security for bank borrowing or any other financing facilities.

Capital expenditure

Total capital expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2022 was approximately
HKSnil (2021: HK$0.4 million), which was used in the purchases of plant and

equipment.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had no material contingent liabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEER W& DN

Capital commitments

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had no material capital commitments.

Segment information

Management considers that the Group had only one operating segment which is

mentioned in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

Information of employees

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 57 full-time employees working in Hong
Kong (2021: 52). The total staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments incurred
during the year ended 31 March 2022 were approximately HK$21.6 million (2021:
HK$17.5 million).

Employees are remunerated based on their qualifications, position and
performance. The remuneration offered to employees generally includes
salaries, allowances and discretionary bonus. Various types of training were

provided to the employees.

Details of the Company’s share option schemes is set out in Note 28 to the

consolidated financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group had no significant events from the

end of the reporting period and up to the date of this report.
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Directors and Senior Management

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date of this report are set out as

follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tse Chun Yuen ( 5 #& J& ) (“Mr. Eric Tse”), aged 72, is the chairman of
the Board, an executive Director, compliance officer and one of our controlling
shareholders. He was appointed as a Director on 12 April 2017 and redesignated
as an executive Director and appointed as the chairman of the Board on 14
September 2017. Mr. Eric Tse is the co-founder of Eric Tse Cement Works
Company Limited ("Eric Tse Cement Works"), a principal operating and wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, and has been a Director of that company
since 9 October 1997. He is also the chairman of the nomination committee
of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”). Mr. Eric Tse is responsible
for the overall strategic planning, business development, and corporate
management, sales and marketing and quality control of our Group. Mr. Eric Tse
is a Director of Land Noble Holdings Limited, a controlling shareholder of the

Company.

Mr. Eric Tse has over 38 years of experience in the wet trades industry. Mr. Eric Tse
obtained a plasterer trade certificate, tiler trade certificate and bricklayer trade

certificate in 1996 from the Construction Industry Training Authority.

Mr. Eric Tse is the founding president of Hong Kong Construction Sub-
Contractors Association Limited (BB iE 5D B € AR A R]) and had
acted as the president of the association until he retired in 2011. Mr. Eric Tse
was named permanent honorary president of Hong Kong Construction Sub-
Contractors Association Limited in 2011. Mr. Tse was a course instructor of
bricklaying, plastering and tiling course organised by Construction Industry
Training Authority from 1977 to 1978. Mr. Eric Tse has been the president of
Association of Plastering Sub-Contractors Limited (JEZKE 52 AR A 7)) since
1997 and has held the role of founding president since 2015.

Mr. Eric Tse is the elder brother of Mr. Tse Chun Kuen.

Mr. Tse Chun Kuen ( # #&X % ) (“Mr. CK Tse”), aged 70, is an executive
Director, chief executive officer, a member of the remuneration committee
of the Company and one of our controlling shareholders. He was appointed
as a Director on 12 April 2017 and redesignated as an executive Director of
our Company on 14 September 2017. Mr. CK Tse is the co-founder of Eric Tse
Cement Works and has been a Director of that company since 9 October 1997.
Mr. CK Tse is responsible for formulating corporate and business strategies and
making major operation decisions of our Group. Mr. CK Tse is a Director of Land

Noble Holdings Limited, a controlling shareholder of the Company.
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Directors and Senior Management

EENGREEE

Mr. CK Tse has over 38 years of experience in wet trades industry. Mr. CK Tse
obtained the tiler trade certificate (8 FL T 857 &) granted by Construction
Industry Training Authority (¥ ¥ 25 3ll #R /5) and Vocational Training Council
Hong Kong (BB 148 /S) in May 1999.

Mr. CK Tse is the younger brother of Mr. Eric Tse.

Mr. Tam Wing Yuen (“Mr. Tam”), aged 54, holds a bachelor degree of
computer science from University of Hong Kong. Mr. Tam has been a Director
of Noble Jade Limited since September 2020, in which the Company owns 18%

equity interests.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Cheung Kit (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 39, is presently a Director of Dream

Team Enterprises Co., Limited and Smart Talent Global Holdings Limited.

He obtained the Master’s degree of Business Administration from Apollos

University, USA in 2018 by attending long distance learning courses.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Yiu Kwong Kenji (E#23) (“Mr. Wong”), aged 41, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 11 September 2017. He is a
member of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”)
and the Nomination Committee. He is responsible for providing independent
judgement and advising on the issues of strategy, performance, resources and

standard of conduct of the Group.

Mr. Wong has extensive experience in business management and operation
supervision. Mr. Wong has been employed by Champway Technology Ltd. since
November 2005 and became its operation Director since January 2013. Mr.
Wong was a technical manager in Champway Technology Ltd. from November
2005 to December 2012 where he was in charge of various projects. Mr. Wong
oversaw the daily operation, quality control and research development of a
biodiesel pilot plant from 2006 to 2008. Mr. Wong was in charge of designing
an industrial scale biodiesel refinery plant from 2008 to 2010 and he was
responsible for sourcing equipment, coordinating with contractors, vendors
and consultants. Furthermore, in the period of 2010 to 2012, Mr. Wong
was in charge of leading the production team in carrying out testing and
commissioning of the biodiesel plant and the daily production operation after
finishing the testing and commissioning and was responsible for maintaining
production related licenses. In his current position as the operation Director, Mr.
Wong is responsible for overseeing the daily operation, fleet supervision, local
biodiesel promotion and liaison with government bodies and other external
communications. Also, Mr. Wong is currently the sole Director of Fai Yeung

Trading Company Limited.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Wong graduated from The Chinese University of Hong Kong with a bachelor
of science degree in May 2003 and was placed on the Dean’s List for the
academic year 2002/2003. He then obtained a master of philosophy degree in
December 2005. Mr. Wong also obtained a Certificate of Competence in Safety
Management of Dangerous Substances from the Occupational Safety & Health
Council in March 2006.

Ms. Chung Lai Ling ( ¥ B ¥ ) (“Ms. Chung”), aged 60, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 11 September 2017. She is
the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee. She is responsible for providing
independent judgement and advising on the issues of strategy, performance,

resources and standard of conduct of the Group.

Ms. Chung worked as an administration officer at Maunsell Consultants Asia
Limited. (currently known as AECOM Asia Company Limited) from April 2001 to
June 2006. Ms. Chung worked in Care & Health Limited, a subsidiary of Hanison
Construction Holdings Limited (Stock code: 896, the shares of which are listed
on the main board of the Stock Exchange) in its health care business over 10

years from July 2006 to February 2017, with the last position as Director.

Ms. Chung obtained a bachelor of arts degree from York University in Canada in
June 1987.

Mr. Tang Chi Wai ( 38 & & ) (“Mr. Tang”), aged 48, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 11 September 2017. He is chairman
of the Audit Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee. He is
responsible for providing independent judgement and advising on the issues of

strategy, performance, resources and standard of conduct of the Group.

Mr. Tang has over 20 years of experience in auditing and accounting. Mr. Tang
has been serving as a financial controller, company secretary and authorised
representative of Universal Technologies Holdings Limited (stock code: 1026,
the shares of which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange) since
June 2008. Mr. Tang has been responsible for financial and accounting functions

as well as secretarial and compliance related matters of the aforesaid company.

Mr. Tang has been an independent non-executive Director of (1) Century Group
International Holdings Limited (formerly known as CHerish Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 2113, the shares of which are listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange) for the period from September 2016 to October 2021, (2) Xin Point
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1571, the shares of which are listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange) since June 2017 and (3) ISP Global Limited (stock
code: 8487, the shares of which are listed on GEM) since December 2017.

Mr. Tang was appointed as the honorary president of North Kwai Chung District

Scout Council of Scout Association of Hong Kong in June 2019.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEkEREERE

Mr. Tang graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a bachelor
of arts (honours) degree in accountancy in November 1996. He has been a
practising Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since April 2001 and a Certified Internal Auditor of the
Institute of Internal Auditors since November 2015. Mr. Tang has also been
a holder of the Practitioner’s Endorsement from The Hong Kong Institute of

Chartered Secretaries since August 2015.

Over the years, Mr. Tang has also obtained various professional qualifications

and memberships including the following:

Professional qualifications

HXRER

Member of Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants
FPEGMEtMrees
Fellow of The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
B AREHMAEEREE
Fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
BEAGHMAEEREE
Fellow ofThe Taxation Institute of Hong Kong
BEENGEGERER
Fellow of The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as
The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators)
R ARAEAERIEERRIWE RITRAERE)EAEE
Fellow of The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as
The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries)
BEEAREAERIEESSWELG)EARGE
Fellow of The Hong Kong Institute of Directors

EREEEY

CHANGES TO INFORMATION IN RESPECT
OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Tang Chi Wai, an independent non-executive Director, has resigned as an

BARER

independent non-executive Director of Century Group International Holdings,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2113)
with effect from 8 October 2021.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Tsoi Chi Hei ( # & B& ) (“Mr. Tsoi”), aged 34, is our Group’s company
secretary. He is responsible for the overall company secretarial matters of our

Group.

Mr. Tsoi has over 10 years of experience in auditing, accounting and financial

management.
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Corporate Governance Report

INTRODUCTION

The Company is committed to the maintenance of good corporate governance
practices and procedures. The Company believes that good corporate
governance provides a framework that is essential for effective management,
a healthy corporate culture, successful business growth and enhancing
shareholder value. The corporate governance principles of the Company
emphasize a quality Board, sound internal controls, and transparency and

accountability to all shareholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company acknowledges the need and importance of corporate governance
as one of the key elements in creating shareholder value. The Company is
also committed to achieving high standard of corporate governance that can
protect and promote the interests of all shareholders and to enhance corporate
value and accountability of the Company. For corporate governance purpose,
the Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set
out in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules. During the year ended 31 March
2022, to the best knowledge of the Board, the Company has complied with the

code provisions of the CG Code.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealing, as set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code of conduct for securities
transactions by the Directors in respect of the shares of the Company (the
“Required Standard of Dealing”). Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the
Required Standard of Dealing and there was no event of non- compliance
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board takes the responsibility to oversee all major matters of the Company,
including but not limited to formulating and approving the overall strategies
and business performance of the Company, monitoring the financial
performance and internal control as well as overseeing the risk management
system of the Company and monitoring the performance of senior executives.
The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
including the development and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices

on corporate governance.

Liability insurance for Directors and senior management officers of the Company
was maintained by the Company with coverage for any legal liabilities which

may arise in the course of performing their duties.
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TERERBE

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Daily operation and management of the business of the Group, including the
implementation of strategies are delegated to the executive Directors along
with other senior executives. Execution of operational matters and applicable
authority are delegated to the management by the Board with clear directions.

They report periodically to the Board on their work and business decisions.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The composition of the Board during the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to

the date of this report is set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tse Chun Yuen (Chairman)

Mr. Tse Chun Kuen (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Tam Wing Yuen (appointed with effect on 30 June 2021) e ?
Mr. Harilela Mahesh (resigned on 30 June 2021) M2

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Kit (appointed with effect on 30 June 2021) Mete?)
Mr. U Keng Tin (resigned on 30 June 2021) ete2

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Yiu Kwong Kenji
Ms. Chung Lai Ling
Mr. Tang Chi Wai

Notes:

m Mr. Tam Wing Yuen and Mr. Cheung Kit were appointed as an executive Director
and a non-executive Director with effect on 30 June 2021 respectively. For further
details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 30 June 2021.

2 Mr. Harilela Mahesh and Mr. U Keng Tin resigned as an executive Director and a

non-executive Director with effect on 30 June 2021 respectively. For further details,
please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 30 June 2021.

Biographical details of the Directors and the relationships among the members
of the Board are set out in “Directors and Senior Management” on pages 15 to

18 of this report.

The proportion of which is higher than what is required by Rule 5.05A, 5.05(1)
and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules whereby independent non-executive Directors
of a listed issuer must represent at least one-third of an issuer's board. The three
independent non-executive Directors represent more than one-third of the
Board and at least one of whom has appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise. With the various
experience of both the executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors and the nature of the Group’s business, the Board considered that the

Directors have a balance of skills and experience for the business of the Group.
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The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in the Board
as they bring an impartial view on the Company'’s strategies, performance
and control, as well as ensure that the interests of all shareholders are taken
into account. All independent non-executive Directors possess appropriate
academic, professional qualifications or related financial management
experience. None of the independent non-executive Directors held any other
offices in the Company or any of its subsidiaries or is interested in any shares
of the Company. The Company has received from each independent non-
executive Director an annual confirmation of his or her independence, and the
Company considers such Directors to be independent in accordance with the
criteria set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy’)
which sets out the basis to achieve diversity on the Board. Details of this policy is

disclosed as below.

1. Purpose

The Board Diversity Policy aims to set out the approach to achieve

diversity on the Board.

2. Vision

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse

Board to enhance the quality of its performance.

3. Policy

When determining the composition of the Board, the Company will
consider board diversity in terms of, among other things, gender,
age, experience, cultural and educational background, expertise, skill
and know-how. All Board appointments will be based on merit, and
candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due

regard for the benefits of diversity to the Board.

4. Measurable Objectives

Selection of candidates for Board membership will be based on a range
of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age,
experience, cultural and educational background, expertise, skills and

know-how.

5. Monitoring and Reporting

The Nomination Committee will disclose the composition of the
Board annually in the corporate governance report and monitor the

implementation of the Board Diversity Policy.
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o

Review of the Board Diversity Policy

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as
appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy. The
Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required,
and recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and

approval.

7. Disclosure of the Board Diversity Policy

A Summary of the Board Diversity Policy together with the measurable
objectives set for implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and the
progress made towards achieving those objectives will be disclosed in

the Company’s annual corporate governance report.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy’) which
sets out the approach to guide the Nomination Committee in relation to the
selection, appointment and re-appointment of the Directors. Details of the

Nomination Policy is disclosed as below.

1. Purpose

1.1 The Nomination Policy aims to set out the approach to guide the
Nomination Committee in relation to the selection, appointment

and re-appointment of the Directors.

1.2 The Nomination Policy aims to ensure that the Board has
a balance of skills, experience, knowledge and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s

business.

2. Criteria

The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and recommend
candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by giving due consideration

to criteria including but not limited to (collectively, the “Criteria”):

(a) Diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender, age,
experience, cultural and educational background, expertise, skills
and know-how;

(b)  Sufficient time to effectively carry out duties; service on other
listed and non-listed companies should be limited to a reasonable

number;

(©) Qualifications, including accomplishment and experience in the

relevant industries the Company’s business is involved in;

(d)  Independence;
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Reputation for integrity;

Potential contributions to be brought to the Board; and

Commitment to enhance and maximize shareholders’ value.

Re-election of Director at general meeting

3.1

32

The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend
retiring Director(s) to the Board for re-appointment by giving due

consideration to the Criteria including but not limited to:

(@) the overall contribution and service to the Company of the
retiring Director including his or her attendance of Board
meetings and, where applicable, general meetings, and
the level of participation and performance on the Board;

and

(b) whether the retiring Director(s) continue(s) to satisfy the

Criteria in section 2.

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall then make
recommendation to shareholders in respect of the proposed

re-election of Director at the general meeting.

Nomination process

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the

appointment of a Director in accordance with the following procedures

and process:

(@)

The Nomination Committee will, giving due consideration to
the current composition and size of the Board, develop a list of
desirable skills, perspectives and experience at the outset to focus

the search effort;

The Nomination Committee may consult any source it deems
appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable candidates, such
as referrals from existing Directors, advertising, recommendations
from an independent agency firm and proposals from
shareholders of the Company with due consideration given to
the Criteria;

The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it deems
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates, such
as interviews, background checks, presentations and third-party

reference checks;
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(d) Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the
Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of
written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the recommendation

to the Board for appointment;

(e) The Nomination Committee will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board in relation to the proposed

appointment and the proposed remuneration package; and

) The Board will have the final authority on determining the
selection of nominees and all appointment of Directors will be
confirmed by the filing of the consent to act as Director of the
relevant Director (or any other similar filings requiring the relevant
Director to acknowledge or accept the appointment as Director, as
the case may be) to be filed with the Companies Registry of Hong
Kong.

Responsibility
The Board will be ultimately responsible for the selection, appointment

and re-appointment of Directors.

Monitoring and reporting

The Nomination Committee will assess and report annually, in the
Company’s Corporate Governance Report, on the composition of the
Board, and launch a formal process to monitor the implementation of

the Nomination Policy as appropriate.

Review of the Nomination Policy

The Nomination Committee will launch a formal process to review
the Nomination Policy periodically to ensure that it is transparent and
fair, remains relevant to the Company’s needs and reflects the current
regulatory requirements and good corporate governance practice. The
Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required
and recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and

approval.
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8. Disclosure of the Nomination Policy

8.1 A summary of the Nomination Policy including the nomination
procedures and the process and Criteria adopted by the
Nomination Committee to select and recommend candidates for
directorship during the year will be disclosed in the Company’s

annual corporate governance report.

8.2 In the circular to shareholders for proposing a candidate as an

independent non-executive Director, it should also set out:

the process used for identifying the candidate and why the
Board believes the candidate should be elected and the

reason why it considers the candidate to be independent;

if the proposed independent non-executive Director
will be holding their seventh (or more) listed company
directorship, the reason the Board believes the candidate

would still be able to devote sufficient time to the Board;

the perspectives, skills and experience that the candidate

can bring to the Board; and

how the candidate can contribute to the diversity of the
Board.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role in the Board
as they bring an impartial view on the Company'’s strategies, performance
and control, as well as ensure that the interests of all shareholders are taken
into account. All independent non-executive Directors possess suitable
and appropriate academic, professional qualifications or related financial
management experience. None of the independent non-executive Directors
held any other offices in the Company or any of its subsidiaries or is interested in

any shares of the Company.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive Director an
annual confirmation of his independence, and the Company considers such
Directors to be independent in accordance with the criteria set out in Rule 5.09
of the GEM Listing Rules.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

The executive Directors (Mr. Eric Tse and Mr. CK Tse) have renewed their
respective service contracts on 14 September 2020 and another executive
Director (Mr. Tam) has entered into a service contract with the Company on
30 June 2021. The Company has signed letters of appointment with each of
the independent non-executive Directors on 14 September 2020 and with
the non-executive Director on 30 June 2021. The service contracts with the
executive Directors (Mr. Eric Tse and Mr. CK Tse) are for an initial fixed term of
three years, the service contract with another executive Director (Mr. Tam) is
for an initial fixed term of one year and the letter of appointment with each of
the independent non-executive Directors and non-executive Director are for an
initial fixed term of one year, commencing from their respective contract dates.
The service contracts and letters of appointment are subject to termination in
accordance with their respective terms. The service contracts may be renewed
in accordance with the amended and restated memorandum and articles of

association of the Company and the applicable GEM Listing Rules.

According to Article 108 of the amended and restated articles of association
of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from
office by rotation at every annual general meeting of the Company, provided
that every Director shall retire from office by rotation and are subject to
re-election at annual general meeting at least once every three years. Article 112
of the amended and restated articles of association of the Company provides
that Directors who are appointed to fill casual vacancies shall hold office only
until the next following general meeting after their appointment, and are

subject to re-election by shareholders of the Company.

Mr. Tam Wing Yuen, Mr. Cheung Kit and Mr. Tang Chi Wai will retire from office
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be held on
25 July 2022. Mr. Tam Wing Yuen, Mr. Cheung Kit and Mr. Tang Chi Wai, being

eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

At the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, separate ordinary
resolutions will be put forward to the shareholders of the Company in relation
to the proposed re-election of Mr. Tam Wing Yuen, Mr. Cheung Kit and Mr. Tang
Chi Wai.
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DIRECTORS' TRAINING AND
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

The Group acknowledges the importance of adequate and ample continuing
professional development for the Directors for a sound and effective internal
control system and corporate governance. In this regard, the Group has always
encouraged the Directors to attend relevant training courses to receive the

latest news and knowledge regarding corporate governance.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company has provided and all
Directors have attended training courses on the updates of the GEM Listing
Rules concerning good corporate governance practices. The Company will, if
necessary, provide timely and regular training to the Directors to ensure that

they keep abreast with the current requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee, for
overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees
have been established with defined written terms of reference, which are
posted on the website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the
Company’s website at www.nobleengineering.com.hk. All the Board committees

responsibly report to the Board on their decisions or recommendations made.

The practices, procedures and arrangements in conducting meetings of Board
committees follow in line with, so far as practicable, those of the Board meetings

set out above.

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to perform their
duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional

advice in appropriate circumstance, at the Company's expense.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties set out
in the CG Code which include developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance, training and continuous professional
development of Directors, and reviewing the Company’s compliance with the

code provision in the CG Code and disclosures in this report.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 29 September 2017.
The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is Ms. Chung Lai Ling, an
independent non-executive Director, and other members include Mr. Tang
Chi Wai, an independent non-executive Directors and Mr. CK Tse, an executive
Director. The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are

posted on the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company’s website.
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The Remuneration Committee has been charged with the responsibility of
making recommendations to the Board on the appropriate policy and structures
for all aspects of Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration. The
Remuneration Committee considers factors such as salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment and responsibilities of the Directors, employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group and desirability of performance-based
remuneration. The Remuneration Committee has reviewed the remuneration
packages and emoluments of Directors and senior management and
considered that they are fair and reasonable during the year ended 31 March
2022. No Director or any of his or her associates is involved in deciding his or her

own remuneration.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 29 September 2017. The
chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr. Eric Tse, the chairman and
executive Director, and other members include Mr. Wong Yiu Kwong Kenji and
Ms. Chung Lai Ling, both independent non-executive Directors. The written
terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are posted on the website of

the Stock Exchange and on the Company’s website.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review and assess the
composition of the Board and independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and make recommendations to the Board on appointment of new
Directors of the Company. In recommending candidates for appointment to the
Board, the Nomination Committee considers the merit of the candidates against

objective criteria and with due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board.

In designing the Board's composition, Board diversity is considered from
a number of perspectives in accordance with the Board Diversity Policy.
The Nomination Committee will also take into account factors relating to
the Company's own business model and specific needs from time to time.
The ultimate decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected

candidates will bring to the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Nomination Committee held one
meetings to review and recommend the appointment of Mr. Tam Wing Yuen as
an executive Director and Mr. Cheung Kit as a non-executive Director; to review
the resignation of Mr. Harilela Mahesh as an executive Director and Mr. U Keng
Tin as a non-executive Director; and to review and recommend the re-election

of Directors.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 29 September 2017. The chairman
of the Audit Committee is Mr. Tang Chi Wai, an independent non-executive
Director, and other members include Mr. Wong Yiu Kwong Kenji and Ms.
Chung Lai Ling, both independent non-executive Directors. The written terms
of reference of the Audit Committee are posted on the website of the Stock

Exchange and on the Company's website.

The Company has complied with Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules in that
at least one of the members of the Audit Committee (which must comprise
a minimum of three members and must be chaired by an independent
non-executive Director) is an independent non-executive Director who
possesses appropriate professional qualifications or accounting related financial

management expertise.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the financial
information and reporting process, internal control procedures and risk
management system, audit plan and relationship with external auditors and
arrangements to enable employees of the Company to raise, in confidence,
concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control or

other matters of the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Audit Committee held four
meetings to review and comment on the Company’s 2021 annual results, 2021
interim results and quarterly results as well as the Company’s internal control

procedures and risk management system.

The Group's consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2022 have been reviewed by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is
of the opinion that the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 March 2022 comply with applicable accounting standards, GEM

Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures have been made.
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TEERBE
ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF MEETINGS =R HEC

The Board meets regularly for considering, reviewing and/or approving matters ExeTHARgE  UEE  BHE RIERM(HF

relating to, among others, the financial and operating performance, as well as BIE)RDRMEREERR - URBEBRERALH - 25
the overall strategies and policies of the Company. Additional meetings are held ENmABAEREEREEZENN - AARBSITRT
when significant events or important issues are required to be discussed and &

resolved.

During the year, the Chairman held a meeting with the independent RER  EEERTESTESHERT - BB IEHIT

non-executive Directors without the executive Directors present. BEBITT —RDE

Details of all Directors’ attendance at Board meetings and Board committee REBE-T - —F=-A=+—HUEFEE2REZLREES
meetings held during the year ended 31 March 2022 are as follows: ERRNESZZESERNFENAT

2021 2021
Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual  Extraordinary
Board Committee Committee Committee General General

Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

ENZEE FMzES REZEE —B--F —B--F
Ezges =] &7 B2 RFEEAEAE RREAKE
Number of Meeting Attended/Held
HERY, BRRY

Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Tse Chun Yuen HIERSTE 8/8 - - W) 11 11
Mr. Tse Chun Kuen HRE AL 8/8 - 2/2 - 11 11
Mr. Tam Wing Yuen (appointed with ~ kTR E(RZS=—F

effect on 30 June 2021) NAZTREZA) 3/8 - - - 11 0/1
Mr. Harilela Mahesh (resigned on Harilela Mahesh#t 4

30 June 2021) (RZZ=—F5<A

=THEE) 5/8 - = = o 11

Non-executive Directors FHTEE
Mr. Cheung Kit (appointed with effect FAZE(R=T=—F

on 30 June 2021) NAZTBEEZMA) 3/8 - - - 11 0N
Mr.UKeng Tin (resignedon 30 June  REXEE(R=T=—F

2021) RA=TREH) 5/8 - = = o 11

Independent non-executive Directors BV 7TEE

Mr. Wong Yiu Kwong Kenji RN EE 8/8 4/4 - 22 il 1
Ms. Chung Lai Ling BERUT 8/8 4/4 22 22 11 1/1
Mr. Tang Chi Wai HEELE 8/8 4/4 2 - " 1
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) assists the
Board by ensuring that Board policy and procedures are followed. The Company
Secretary is also responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance

matters.

The Company has appointed Mr. Tsoi Chi Hei as its Company Secretary. The
biography of Mr. Tsoi is set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior

Management” of this report.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, Mr. Tsoi undertook no less than 15 hours of

relevant professional training to update his skill and knowledge.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS'
REMUNERATION

Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited has been appointed as the external auditors of the
Company. The fee paid and payable in respect of audit services amounted to
HK$700,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022.

No non-audit services fee was paid or payable for the year ended 31 March
2022.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interest and rights, separate
resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each substantial issue,
including the election of individual Directors, for shareholders’ consideration
and voting. All resolutions put forward at shareholders” meeting will be voted
by poll pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules and the poll voting results will be
posted on the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company's website after

the relevant shareholders’ meeting.

Extraordinary general meetings may be convened by the Board on requisition
of shareholders holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company or by such shareholders who made the requisition (the
"Requisitionists’) (as the case may be) pursuant to Article 64 of the amended
and restated articles of association of the Company. Such requisition must state
the object of business to be transacted at the meeting and must be signed by
the Requisitionists and deposited at the registered office of the Company or
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong. Shareholders should
follow the requirements and procedures as set out in such article for convening
an extraordinary general meeting. Shareholders may put forward proposals with
general meeting of the Company by sending the same to the Company at the

principal office of the Company in Hong Kong.
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TERERBE

To put forward any enquiries to the Board, shareholders may send written
enquiries to the Company. Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests
in respect of their rights to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong

Kong.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Directors acknowledge that they have overall responsibility for overseeing
the Company's internal control, financial control and risk management system
and shall monitor its effectiveness on an ongoing basis. A review of the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems (particularly
concerning the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes and budget of the Company accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions) has been conducted by the Board and is

conducted at least annually.

Aimed at providing reasonable assurance against material errors, losses or fraud,
the Company has established risk management procedures which comprise the

following steps:

Identify risks: Identify major and significant risks that could affect the

achievement of goals of the Group;

Risk assessment: Assess and evaluate the identified risk according to its

likely impact and the likelihood of occurrence;
Risk mitigation: Develop effective control activities to mitigate the risks.

Risk identification and assessment is performed or updated annually, and
the results of risk assessment, evaluation and mitigation of each function or
operation is documented in the risk registry of the Company to communicate

to the Board and management for reviews.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are, however,
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against

material misstatement or loss.

A review on the internal control systems of the Company, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions has been
carried out by an independent consultancy company with staff in possession of

relevant expertise to conduct an independent review.
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The Audit Committee reviewed the internal control review report issued by
the independent consultancy company and the Company'’s risk management
and internal control systems in respect of the year ended 31 March 2022 and
considered that they are effective and adequate. The Board assessed the
effectiveness of internal control systems by considering the internal control
review report and reviews performed by the Audit Committee and concurred

the same.

Under Code Provision D.2.5 of the CG Code, the Company should have an
internal audit function. The Company has no internal audit function because
the Company has maintained an internal control system and its implementation
has been considered effective by the Audit Committee and the Board. In
addition, the Audit Committee has communicated with external auditors of the
Company to understand if there is any material control deficiency. Nevertheless,

the Company will review the need for one on an annual basis.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group has in place a policy on disclosure of inside information which sets
out the procedures and internal controls for handling and dissemination of

inside information.

The policy provides guidelines to the Directors, officers and all relevant
employees of the Group to ensure proper safeguards exist to prevent the
Company from breaching the statutory disclosure requirements. It also includes
appropriate internal control and reporting systems to identify and assess

potential inside information.
Key procedures in place include:

define the requirements of periodic financial and operational reporting
to the Board and the Company Secretary to enable them to assess inside

information and make timely disclosures, if necessary;

control the access to inside information by employees on a
need- to-know basis, and safeguarding the confidentiality of the inside

information before it is properly disclosed to public;

procedures of communicating with the Group’s stakeholders, including
shareholders, investors, analysts, etc. in ways which are in compliance

with the Listing Rules.

The Group has also established and implemented procedures to handle
enquiries from external parties related to the market rumours and other Group's

affairs.

To avoid uneven dissemination of inside information, the dissemination of inside
information of the Company shall be conducted by publishing the relevant

information on the Stock Exchange's website and the Company’s website.
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¥ ERRE

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS HERWERBERIREEBIZR
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has adopted a shareholders communication policy with the RATBEEM—ERFBERBR BREIERRREREER
objective of ensuring that shareholders and potential investors are provided REEAEN  FERREHEFSHERAERNARAT
with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and understandable BEt o

information about the Company.

The Company has established several channels to communicate with RRBE R T Z AR ERFER
shareholders as follows:

Corporate communications such as annual reports, quarterly reports, i TEBAONFERSE ZTERSE - PHR
interim reports and circulars are issued in printed form and are available ERBHRHAADRBERHE - BRI
on the website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk and the X BT M8 uh wwwhkexnewshk & A8 A &) 48 ik
Company's website at www.nobleengineering.com.hk; www.nobleengineering.com hkA] (215 ;

i Periodic announcements are made through the Stock Exchange and i, TEHE BB ZATERAE - WEAEDBIFIHRER
published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the BT K 22 R B9 A9
Company;

ii.  Corporate information is made available on the Company’s website; i.  AARARAEHIRMEEEER

iv.  Annual and extraordinary general meetings provide a forum for the v. BEAFAEMEFEFIAZARFRETE  ME
shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the Directors EREREEERMERRINES &k

and senior management; and

v.  The Hong Kong share registrar of the Company provides services to the v. AAREARMDBF ELE R AREREHERG B
shareholders in respect of share registration, dividend payment and B RERNRIEEETEORS

related matters.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and enhancing QB TERERIGEENRAR - WIRHERBERERE
communication with the existing shareholders and potential investors. It EREENER ARAEORES  EmBAARAR
welcomes suggestions from investors, stakeholders and the public. Enquires ATREER - MEFERARTELNER AT HFEAR
to the Board or the Company may be sent by post to the Company’s principal NRAZBBEELEME, o

place of business in Hong Kong.

There has been no change to the amended and restated memorandum and RZEBZZF=A=+—HILFE  ARAKETRE
articles of association of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2022. B AR A FR N M S AR R BE R ) o
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INTRODUCTION

Noble Engineering Group Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (“the Group’,
“we” or “our”) collectively have more than 35 years of experience in undertaking
wet trade works in Hong Kong. We are committed to provide the best services

we can offer to our customers.

As a leader in the wet trade industry, staff safety, works quality control and
environmental management are our paramount concerns. Our management
system was certified for standard OHSAS 18001:2007 related to occupational
health and safety, 9001:2008 for quality management, and 14001:2004
for environmental management under the International Organisation for
Standardisation ("ISO”).

Comprehensive remuneration and welfare packages are offered to retain and
nurture our staff. We also extend our care to the broader society by making

various donations to charities and industry associations.

In the following, we would like to present to you in detail our efforts in fulfilling
our corporate social responsibility in (I) Environmental and (Il) Social aspects for
the financial year ended 31 March 2022 (“the Year").

BOARD STATEMENT

The board of Directors (the “Board”) committed to balance the Group’s
development and long-term sustainability of the environment and
communities. The Board has ultimate responsibility for the Group’s ESG

management including strategy setting and reporting.

The management of the Group has embedded the ESG issues in the Group's
overall direction and strategies, who is responsible for setting up ESG strategy,
maintaining risks management and regulatory updates with assistance
provided by key personnel from operational department (‘ESG workgroup”).
The ESG workgroup is responsible for identifying business related ESG issues,
determining the Group's ESG goals and target, monitoring ESG performance
and reporting to the management. Regular meetings were conducted
between the Board and the ESG workgroup to review the progress of ESG work,
policy and target set to ensure that appropriate policy and effective ESG risk

management are in place.

The Group conducts materiality assessment annually to identify the material ESG
factors. The Board and the ESG workgroup have taken part in the assessment to
be one of the key stakeholders to provide opinions on the selection of material
ESG factors.
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RIR - 8 RERME

REPORTING PRINCIPLES AND BOUNDARY

Unless specified otherwise, this Report covers the Group’s main operation

business — provision of wet trades work service.

In preparing this Environmental, Social and Governance Report (“this Report’),
it is referenced to the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide
(the “ESG Reporting Guide”) under Appendix 20 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
("HKEX"). We adhered to the reporting principles of the ESG Guide, namely
“Materiality”, “Quantitative” and “Consistency” principles that are described

below.

Materiality: The Group has identified key ESG issues through materiality
assessment.

Quantitative: Key performance indicators (KPIs) in this Report explained its

purpose and is applicable for comparisons.

Consistency: Consistent methodologies are adopted over time to allow

meaningful comparisons of ESG data.

l. ENVIRONMENTAL

1.1 Health, Safety, Environmental and Quality
Policy
For the certification of our ISOs, we set up a “Health, Safety,
Environmental and Quality Policy”. The policy sets out the

following principles:

- to ensure the Group is in compliance with applicable
standards, legal and other requirements and to be mindful
of continual improvement and ultimate target in having

zero accident;

- to employ reasonable resources to achieve the objectives

and targets relevant to continual improvement;

- to review the effectiveness of the integrated management

system continuously;

- to ensure effective communication among staff, customers

and interested parties;
- to advance engineering technology and idea;
- to acquire products and services to professional standards,

to minimize environmental impact and prevent injury or
ill-health; and
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|. ENV' RONMENTAL (Continued)

1.1

Health, Safety, Environmental and Quality
Policy (Continued)

- to enhance company and staff competence and efficiency

in related works.

Specifically, we devised standard procedures for the following

areas of concern:

- Air pollution control: ensure strict compliance with
the Air Pollution Control Ordinance in areas including

“construction dust” and “open burning”.

Procedures are set up to mitigate and control dust or air
pollutants emission. The procedures cover areas relevant
to storing, handling and transporting construction
materials, using tools and vehicles, and using eco-friendly

fuel.

- Waste control: ensure strict compliance with the Waste
Disposal (Chemical Waste) (General) in the handling
of “general waste”, “construction waste” and “chemical

waste”.

Procedures are set up to handling and disposing wastes,
setting up and maintaining waste storage conditions, and
regulating protective gear for personnel handling different

types of wastes.

- Noise pollution control: ensure strict compliance with
the Noise Control Ordinance in terms of “construction
time regulation” and “construction noise mitigation and

control”.

Procedures are set up to regulate the allowable time and
the specific types of equipment for conducting percussive
piling works. Measures to mitigate the impact of noise
pollution such as choosing tools that would emit less
noise, scheduling noisy works to be further away from
residential areas, schools and hospitals, and installing noise
shield around equipment that is expected to emit a lot of

noise.

RIE - HERERBRSE

o

BB
1 #BF 22 BREREEE@®)

BARARETIHBIENRERY

¢ Fb

AR B RIBE T 51 BT R G TR T SR MR R
F -

- ZERSREH - BRERSEENE]
R BRICE |ERR & E7 R EST
ZERSRE HIED)

BERIIEFARD R ERIMERERS
RBER - ZERFRELFH - BRI
FBwHEN ERTARERARER
ERERUFRREI B B R A -

- EWES : BRERE—REW] -
RS R ML B B Eis &
STENRE(CRED (—K) -

ERVIEFABEREERY  RER
REFEDERIGRTIARRERETFRE
R ASERHRERE -

- RESRES : RRZEFEAR IR
[EERSEM N EH |7 HEREE TR

BEBIEG -

ERVIEFAREETERERITHETE
YRS ] R A TE JR B A AR R o JRLEEIR
ZISRFENER - PIPEFE LR
REHTA - LM TEE NERE
FE  BREBEAREEFSEER
RIS R A B B 2 KRR

BERIREEEREBRAT - S FE a0

37




Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERKRS

o 4=z
| . E N Vl RO N M E NTA L (Continued) I Iﬁ iﬁ, (&)
.1 Health, Safety, Environmental and Quality 1 #BF 22 BREREEE@®)

Policy (Continued)

= Water pollution control: ensure strict compliance with the - KEREH: HRERRLIR %
Water Pollution Control Ordinance concerning sewage B Hitt s TTE U KRR RETFT
that would result from concrete works, vehicle cleaning, MGELERSK - BEREREESTKTE
other construction procedures, and site canteen and toilet E BRI
facilities.
Procedures are set up to regulate the discharge of BaR IR 7 LAR B [R5 58 BE R B Bk Ak
wastewater into designated wastewater discharge point. K o $8RE T L REK 1A 3R 48 FE BERUE:
Measures to prevent leakage of wastewater into non- RV TE HE LAY fIl B K S AR AR A R B &2
designated discharge point are instructed to foremen to X

control the impact of wastewater to the neighbouring

communities.
.2 Greenhouse Gas (“GHG"”) Emissions 12 BERB(DAZREDHEK
We are glad to report that, due to the nature of our trade REBRARE - ARAEBITETTEFER
requiring no usage of heavy machineries, our operations create BRI MY AEBEBCEEFTIH
very few emissions. Bz o
The following presents our GHG emissions for the Year: AT 2R ARFEERMIDAEREBHRIER
GHG emissions from vehicles T EELER R EREHL

Aspects 1.1

BE1.1

Nitrogen oxides gram 3,221.44 3,192.60
(&) %

Sulphur oxides gram 504.59 513.56
mary )

Respiratory suspended particles gram 237.19 235.06
WO SRR F 5
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RIE-HERERKRS

3

mo 127
| 5 E N Vl RO N M E NTA L (Continued) I I»‘L_VE iﬁ: (%)
.2 Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”) Emissions (Continued) 12 BEREB(RERE DSk
GHG emissions from mobile combustion sources BEMERELNBERBHL
Aspects 1.2 Unit: kg (CO, equivalent)
fBmE1.2 By FR(ZE{LRER
Scope 1
&
Carbon dioxide kg 81,421.20 82,694.18
= (74 F52
Methane kg 162.31 149.45
EEbe T
Nitrous oxide kg 7,423.77 10,134.39
—&at=a F5
Indlirect GHG emission from generation of purchased energy FrIBREIRE £ 18 E R HEIK
Aspects 1.2 Unit: kg (CO, equivalent)
Bm1.2 By FR(ZE{LHRER
Scope 2
#ED
Indirect GHG Emissions kg 6,322.74 12,352.75
MR ER M Fr
Aspects 1.2 Unit: kg (CO, equivalent)
fEmn.2 B TR(ZE{LBRESE
Total GHG Emissions (Scope 1 & 2) kg 95,330.02 105,330.77
RERBEIMEE (FEE K2) T
Total GHG Emissions Intensity kg/nos. of project 2,216.98 2,700.79
BREREBIGRE Tr/HEHE
The Group will target to reduce 3-5% total GHG emissions BT _FFE AEENBEREARRCE
intensity in year 2027, when compared to year 2022 by replacing ZEF R ERERBYNGRERIK3-5% - K
the vehicles to hybrid car in the future. ﬂiﬂ%iﬁﬁ%?ﬁﬁhné\@ﬁ U ©
In the Year, our operations did not use gas and therefore have RAEE  AEBRELTEFHRE  WH
no relevant GHG emissions to report. We did not produce any AZMERRERBHN - RMELEFNE
hazardous wastes from our operations. In case there is any EETMBEER - MEEATAERED - &
hazardous waste produced, the Group will engage a qualified SERBZESEREDRERRIE - LFEHE
wastes collector to handle it in order to comply with relevant BIRIREI

environmental regulations.
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RIR - 8 RERME

|. ENV'RONMENTAL (Continued)

.2 Greenhouse Gas (“GHG"”) Emissions (Continued)

The Group has expanded its data collection system in gathering
the data of non-hazardous wastes during the Year. The Group's
non-hazardous wastes come from disposal of office paper which

performance was as follows:

Non-hazardous wastes
Aspects 1.4 Unit
[EmE1.4 )
Office paper tonnes
FEYNEES A

As there was no hazardous wastes and the Group is maintaining
minimum level of paper usage for daily operations, the reduction

target was not applicable to the Group.

During the Year, the Group did not aware of any non-compliance
of relevant laws and regulations in relation to air and GHG
emissions, discharges into water and land, and the generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous wastes. Including but not limited
to the Air Pollution Control Ordinance, Water Pollution Control

Ordinance that would have a significant impact on the Group.

1.3 Use of Resources

We strive to lower energy consumption, fully utilise resources,

and recycle wastes in daily office operations.

Our staff recycle used papers for daily printing, save up used
envelope for internal communication or drafting, and would
prioritize using electronic communication means over printed
copies for daily operations. Recycling bins are placed beside

printers to encourage scrap paper recycling.

To reduce the use of foam lunch boxes, we encourage staff to
bring their own lunch boxes to work. They are also reminded to
set the temperature of the air conditioning at an eco-friendly level

of 25 degree Celsius.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE-HERERKRS

|. ENV' RONMENTAL (Continued)

1.3

Use of Resources (Continued)

The electricity consumed was mainly for office use. The following

presents our indirect electricity consumption for the Year:

Indirect energy consumption in total and intensity

Aspects 2.1

Bm2.1

Electricity usage kWh
R T RBf

Electricity usage intensity

To encourage continuous awareness in energy saving, we
target to reduce 2-3% electricity usage intensity in year 2027,
when compared to year 2022 by replacing the broken electrical

appliances by those with recognised energy-saving label.

The Group's water consumption was 44m? during the Year for
office use. As the Group is maintaining minimum usage of water
for sanitation, efficiency target is considered not applicable to us.
The Group did not encounter any significant issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose. Also, due to the Group's business
nature, no packaging material was consumed for finished

products.

Farth Hour2027

During the Year, the Group has participated in Earth Hour which
is a global energy saving campaign organised by World Wildlife
Fund ("WWF") by turning off all non-essential lights for an hour at
night. We also pledged to help safeguard the future of the Earth
by treasuring the world's natural resources, reducing waste and

promoting renewable energy wherever possible.

The Environment and Natural Resources

Although the core business of the Group does not have
significant impact on the environment and natural resources,
the Group recognises the responsibility on minimising impacts
on it. The Group regularly assesses the environmental risks of our
operation and adopts preventive measures to reduce such risks.
Noise may be generated and have impact on the environment
from our operation time, preventive actions was detailed in the

sections I.1 Health, Safety, Environmental and Quality Policy.

kWh/no. of offices
RERE FEE,/MAEH
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B HEREARE

E NVl RO N M E NTA L (Continued)

1.5

Climate Change

Climate changes has been a more-concerned issue around the
world in recent years, the Group recognizes that climate change
may have potential impacts towards our operation. We identify
below possible climate-related risks and seek opportunities to

reduce the carbon footprint in our business.

Acute physical risks arise from weather-related events such as
storms, floods and heatwave, while transition risks arise from
change in environmental-related laws and regulations or change
in service choice from customers. We have taken precautionary
measures to deal with the risks which may pose impact to the

Group.

The Group has established a standard policy to provides
guidelines on the arrangements for work under typhoons and
rainstorms. Adequate rest time has been provided to employee
who work under hot weather. For transition risks, the Group
continue to monitor the risks and opportunities faced and keep
updates in new laws and regulations to minimise potential

impact of climate change towards the Group.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE-HERERKRS

. SOCIAL I, =

1.1

Employment and Labour Practices 1 EEREIER
Our people 8T
Wet trade works is highly labour intensive. In view of this, the TRIREBEESSHHRENE - BERILL - K
Group pays due regard to setting its human resources and work SEEESHRETEANERREELRBR ©
safety policies. As at 31 March 2022, the Group employed 64 staff RITZZF=A=+—0  AEEHF4%
members including back office and construction sites, all of them BT  BEEEKREETIH  HURES &
are located in Hong Kong, which as details below: BT -

Breakdown by gender

RIERIE D

Male Eled 88%

Female hogid 12%

Breakdown by employment category

|

REEERE S

Full-time staff EHET 100%

Breakdown by age group

RERERE S

Under 30 years old 30BRIA T 1%

30to 50 years old 30&505% 61%

Over 50 years old 505% A 28%
We maintain high standards of business ethics and require our BHRFEEENEEBE  WERKMOE
employees to abide to the Group’s code of conduct as stated in THEPAREBE T FMAFMAITA%ER - %
our staff handbook. Our management values equal opportunities MHEREER TSN TEEKE - BMSE
at the workplace. We build an equity workplace by a fair and just BAFRAERNBERR - BIRLRH - e
recruitment process in which we would assess people based BERFTEET LB —EXFMIIESM -
solely on their experience, skills, and qualifications. An applicant’s KERERIER - REMED - FRAECKTE
gender, religion, age, or skin colour would not in any degree TerBERERANKS - ETTERBEER
affect his or her chance of being recruited. The same principle FHERARE] -

applies to our staff appraisals and counselling.

We offer remuneration packages to staff which are commensurate R E THAREBKINFTIER G T H1ZE) -
with their positions, duties, qualifications, and experience to REBRETIRHEARNY  BE  EBEEL
reward them for their contributions to our success. Our executive BARTEOFINGS - AEERITESAEREE
Directors who have vast experience in the industry would directly RITEASR  KERLESIHHNGEBNTESE
participate in the budgeting process of staff remuneration B2 - EAPNERITRENTINFEERE
packages. This helps to ensure the packages offered are at BENRKEL A BAEENEEEBAL -

a competitive level and can retain talents for the Group's

development.

HERIBEEERERLAT —© 000 R
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RIR - 8 RERME

” SOC | A L (Continued)

II.1 Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Our people (Continued)

To better monitor our staff's career development progress,
adequate appraisals are conducted. We would offer promotions
and salary increment as rewards to outstanding staff, while
at the same time we would counsel staff who require further
improvements in their performance. They are also welcomed
to communicate their concerns with our management at the

appraisals.

During the Year, the total turnover rate of employees is 9%
with below information by gender and age group. Geographic
information was not disclosed as all of the employees located in

Hong Kong.

Turnover rate by gender

BRERIBI D SR
Male Eslis
Female T

Turnover rate by age group*

REF AR E D A& SR

Under 30 years old 305 A T

30 to 50 years old 302505,
* No staff aged over 50 years old left the Group during the Year.

During the Year, the Group did not aware of any non-compliance
of relevant laws and regulations in relation to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and
other benefits and welfare including but not limited to the Sex
Discrimination Ordinance, the Race Discrimination Ordinance,

and the Disability Discrimination Ordinance.
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RIE-HERERKRS

” SOC'AL (Continued)

1.1

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Labour standards

The Group has zero tolerance to using forced or child labour.
As a member of the construction industry, we are well aware of
the problem of illegal immigrants working at construction sites
and are fully against it. Our HR & Administration Department had
adopted stringent internal controls in the recruitment process
to mitigate the risk of hiring child labour or illegal immigrants.
In case any forced or child labour discovered, the employment
between the Group and the suspected labour will be immediately
terminated. Investigation will be conducted to identify the

weakness in recruitment progress.

During the Year, the Group did not aware of any non-compliance
of relevant laws and regulations in relation to preventing child

and forced labour.

Protecting staff’s health and safety

In developing our business, we are also committed to protect our

staff's health and safety.

Our certification of OHSAS 18001:2007 is a recognition of our
compliance efforts with occupational health and safety standards.
To ensure effective oversight over safety related issues, the
Group sets up safety committees both at the corporate level
and the construction site level. Safety committee meeting is
held on a monthly basis with the executive Directors for the
purpose of setting strategic guidelines for implementation of our
occupational health and safety measures relating to our operation
and monitor the effectiveness of our safety management

measures.

At the construction site level, site safety committee is also
established on project basis to implement on-site safety measures
including regular safety inspections to maintain safe working
environment, review of safety plan, update of risk assessment for
the works, review of safety incidents, and follow up of any unsafe

practices.
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SOC | A L (Continued)

1.1

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Protecting staff’s health and safety (Continued)

We provide site safety induction briefing sessions for workers on
the first day of work and provide toolbox training once a month
for our workers on site, including subcontractors’ employees.
Site inspections are carried out at least once a week by our
safety supervisors to ensure strict compliance with the statutory

occupational health and safety laws, rules, and regulations.

Effective promotion and communication of safety procedures are
maintained through, among others, establishing safety bulletin
and detailed record of accident, holding regular internal and
external safety meetings, documenting safety measures and
issues identified for each construction project by preparing safety

reports and training records.

In the previous three years, including the Year, we are glad that
no fatalities occurred at either our head office or construction
sites. There were 6 cases of work injuries incurred during the Year.

The lost man-day due to work injuries for the Year was 1,952 days.

The Group is well aware of the potential health hazard the
COVID-19 epidemic. Accordingly, the Group had implemented
the following measures to contribute to fighting against the

epidemic:

- Providing face masks and disinfectant products at head

office and site offices for staff's use.

- Requiring staff to adhere to the Group's office hygiene

requirement in response to COVID-19.

- Placing educational material regarding COVID-19 at head

office to raise staff's hygiene awareness.

- For staff members who had travelled recently to countries
where the epidemic is severe, requiring them to “work
from home” for a sufficient period before returning to

office.

The above measures did not only protect health of our staff but
also our customers and the communities closed to the worksites

where the Group had operations.
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” SOC | A L (Continued)

1.1

Employment and Labour Practices (Continued)
Protecting staff’s health and safety (Continued)

During the Year, the Group did not aware of any non-compliance
of relevant laws and regulations in relation to providing a
safe working environment and protecting employees from

occupational hazards.

Training and development

Apart from above mentioned site safety induction briefing session
and toolbox trainings, the Group has also organised or sponsored
safety trainings including safety meetings and training, continuing
professional development for the Group's registered safety officer,
and training courses for safety supervisors. There was 98% of our

employee took part in training with below breakdown:

Breakdown by gender

R RIE D

Male St
Female g

Breakdown by employment category

B HBRERES

. =@

N1 EREREZEIERZ
RESTHRRERL2 (1)

RAFE  REBRTENBEMERRELZS
THEREMRERERRBERZNREMER
SRR IRITR

EIIRERE

B bt Ti2e 2 APIREN & K TAAGFNS -

ZK%IDT%&%&&%E)JK%E EJ\\ CBEREREEH
CAEEEMRETENHEEXER

&ﬁz’\ﬂ%ﬁhﬁﬂlﬁ%ﬁ * BB SRHIEE S
sl BAREROT
86%
14%

1
[
D

RESERIE

Senior-grade staff AR E
Middle-grade staff AR E
Entry-grade staff MRS

The average training hours per employee during the year was
6.43 hours while average training hours for male and female
employees are 6.6 hours and 5.38 hours respectively. The average

training hours by employment category was as below:

Average training hours by employment category

9%
37%
54%

2EEMEBNFIFIIFRRANE - M
SN R IR BN TIEIIF RS B R66/ N
Ke538/ N < RIE (R AR R &) 9 19 T 19 1531 BK
mr

RIERERE 2D N T9E IR E

Senior-grade staff AR E
Middle-grade staff PR E
Entry-grade staff TRBE

7.80
6.00
6.55
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SOC'AL (Continued)
1.2 Operating Practices

Supply chain management

As at 31 March 2022, the Group has 26 approved suppliers
and 890 approved subcontractors, all of which are located
in Hong Kong. Apart from regulating our employees
on environmental aspects, the Group also concerns its
subcontractors’ environmental performance. This can be seen
from its selection process and performance assessment process
of subcontractors. During the selection of new subcontractors,
key concerns would be if the subcontractor had been certified
with environmental management relevant ISO certificate, and
whether the subcontractor was involved in environmental
litigations or complaints in the past. Preference will be given to
those subcontractors who is certified with environmental and
social management certificate. Once engaged, assessment on
subcontractor’s performance over environmental aspects would
be conducted half yearly to ensure consistent environmental

performance.

Whenever we need to procure and source for materials, we
would seek them through a fair and unbiased tender process.
Selection criteria includes the price offered by the suppliers,
their capabilities to meet our requirement in terms of product
and service quality, as well as service support. Product quality,
environmental and social certificate will be obtained for
consideration if appropriate. All suppliers pass through same

selection procedure.

Service pledge to our customer

The Group has obtained ISO 9001:2008 certification in recognition
of its provision of high standard of quality management in
the provision of wet trade works. We had set up customer
communication channels, including headquarter hotline and
construction site representatives, for handling customers
enquiries and complaints. We pledge to resolve any enquiries
and complaints to the satisfaction of our customers and deliver
the best construction service we can offer. During the Year, no

service-related complaint received from customers.

Regarding our business nature, recall procedure, percentage of
products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and health

reasons is not applicable.
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RIE-HERERKRS

SOC | A L (Continued)

1.2 Operating Practices (Continued)

Service pledge to our customer (Continued)

During tendering procedure, the Group would involve in
customers’ sensitive information, the Group has strictly required
related employee to keep it confidential. We would also restrict
the use of the information for its purpose and would not
disclose the sensitive information to any third party without the

customer’s consent.

The Group acknowledge our responsibility in protecting
intellectual rights. We protect intellectual property rights by
not infringing other’s intellectual right and purchasing licensed
software from authorised suppliers.

During the Year, the Group did not aware of any non-compliance
of relevant laws and regulations in relation to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to services

provided.

Anti-corruption

Over the years, we witnessed nil suspected or actual bribery,
extortion, fraud, and money laundering activities occurring within
the Group. Same as before, the Group did not aware of any
non-compliance of relevant laws and regulations in relation to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering during the Year.
No concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought
against us during the Year.

We stand firmly by our anti-corruption policies and procurement
practices as stated in our internal manuals. Acceptance of
kickbacks, commissions or any forms of benefits are strictly
prohibited during any procurement, contract negotiations or
other business dealings. Gift policy in our internal manuals clearly
states the required process and procedure for handling and

accepting gifts and advantages.

The Group has established a whistle-blowing system which
created a platform for stakeholders to report any misconduct
and irregularities to the Group anonymously. The reported cases
will be investigated in a prompt, fair and confidential manner
with strict confidentiality by senior management under any

circumstances to keep anonymity.
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CHERERRE

| | 5 SOC | A L (Continued)

11.2

1.3

Operating Practices (Continued)
Anti-corruption (Continued)

The manuals also outline guidance over conflicts of interest,
intellectual property rights, privacy and information
confidentiality, bribery and corruption, and equal opportunities.
Apart from the manuals set up, the Group has also arranged
anti-corruption trainings to Directors and staff by circulating the
related materials to all Directors and senior management. We
have also delivered the updates of anti-corruption issues in our

regular meeting.

Community Involvement

It is the Group's policy to actively participate in charitable
activities while also encouraging staff to participate during
their leisure time. During the Year, we have made donation of
HK$10,000 to The Association of Plastering Sub-Contractors
Limited to support the promotion of traditional workmanship of
wet trade and training new blood for wet trade. HK$2,000 was
donated to Hong Kong Sea Cadet Corps to support activities held
by the organisation which made the cadet members become

contributing citizens of our community.

FUTURE APPROACH TOWARDS

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

In the future, we will:

Continue our efforts in environmental protection and stringent

monitoring of subcontractor's environmental performance;

Uphold our high standard of occupational health and safety and ensure

our people can enjoy a fruitful career path with us; and

Nurture more and more industry professionals and youth to contribute

to the Hong Kong society.
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The Directors present their report together with the audited financial statements
of the Company and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company, and its subsidiaries are
principally engaged in the provision of wet trade works services. Details of the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 is set out in
the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” of this

report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy"). Details of the

Dividend Policy is disclosed as below.

The Company adopts a general dividend policy that aims to provide
shareholders of the Company out of the Group's profit attributable to

shareholders in any financial year, subject to the criteria set out below.

Such declaration and payment of dividends shall be determined at the
discretion of the Board and subject to all applicable requirements (including
without limitation restrictions on dividend declaration and payment) under
the amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of the

Company.

In proposing any dividend payout, the Board shall also take into account, inter
alia:

the Group's actual and expected financial performance;
shareholders’ interests;

retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company and each of

the other members of the Group;

the level of the Group’s debt to equity ratio, return on equity and

financial covenants to which the Group is subject;
possible effect on the Group's creditworthiness;

any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the

Group's lenders;
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the Group's expected working capital requirements and future expansion

plans;

liquidity position and future commitments at the time of declaration of
dividend;

taxation considerations;
statutory and regulatory restrictions;
general business conditions and strategies;

general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group's business
and other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the

business or financial performance and position of the Company; and
other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board may propose the payment of dividends, if any, with respect to the

Company's shares on a per share basis.

In addition to cash, dividends may be distributed in the form of shares subject
to and in accordance with the procedures set out in the Company’s amended

and restated memorandum and articles of association.

Except for interim dividend, any dividends declared by the Company must be
approved by an ordinary resolution of shareholders at the general meeting and
must not exceed the amount recommended by the Board. The Board may from
time to time pay to the shareholders such interim dividends as appear to the

Directors to be justified by the profits of the Company available for distribution.

The Company will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves the
right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or modify the
Dividend Policy at any time, and this Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a
legally binding commitment by the Company that dividends will be paid in any
particular amount and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a dividend

at any time or from time to time.
Pursuant to the Code Provision F.1.1 under Appendix 15 Corporate Governance

Code and Corporate Governance Report, the Company should disclose the

policy on payment of dividend in the annual report.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
this report. The financial position of the Group and the Company as at 31 March
2022 are set out in the consolidated statement of financial position and Note
26 to the consolidated financial statements respectively. The Directors do not

recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2022.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming annual general meeting is scheduled to be held on 25 July
2022 (the "AGM"). For determining eligibility to attend and vote at the AGM,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from 20 July 2022 to
25 July 2022, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
of the Company will be registered. In order to attend and vote at the AGM, all
share transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the share registrar of the Company in Hong Kong, Link Market
Services (Hong Kong) Pty Limited, Suite 1601, 16/F, Central Tower, 28 Queen’s
Road Central, Hong Kong, for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 19 July
2022.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out on page 124 in this report. This summary does not form

part of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the plant and equipment of the Group during the
year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial

statements.

DONATION

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022
amounted to approximately HK$12,000 (2021: HK$15,000).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year ended
31 March 2022, together with the reasons thereof, are set out in Note 25 to the

consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in consolidated statement of changes in

equity and Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme on 14 September
2017 (the "Scheme”). The terms of the Scheme are in accordance with the
provisions of Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules. A summary of the particulars
of the Scheme as required under Rule 23.09 of the GEM Listing Rules is set out in

Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company or the laws of the
Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to

existing shareholders.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2022 are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements. All of the Group's related party transactions are fully exempted
from the independent shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure

requirements pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules.

On 1 April 2021, Eric Tse Cement Works Company Limited, as tenant, and Mr.
Eric Tse, Mr. CK Tse, Ms. Or So Lan and Ms. Yapp Ngi Yang, as landlord, entered
into a tenancy agreement dated 1 April 2021 (the “Tenancy Agreement”),
for the rental of a property located at Room 9, 25/F, CRE Centre, 889 Cheung
Sha Wan Road, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong Kong which is used as our
principal place of business. The term of the tenancy is from 1 April 2021 to 31
March 2022, with a rental of HK$9,500 per month (exclusive of management fee
and air-conditioning charges) payable in advance. The rent under the Tenancy
Agreement was determined after arm’s length negotiations between the parties
thereto with reference to the market rent payable for comparable premises and

is in line with the market level.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Company has complied with the
applicable disclosure requirements under the GEM Listing Rules in relation to

any connected transactions and continuing connected transactions.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2022, the Company's reserves available for distribution to owners

amounted to approximately HK$38.9 million.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS AND
SUBCONTRACTORS

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the percentage of the Group's aggregate
revenue attributable to the Group’s largest customer was approximately 50.3%,
while the percentage of the Group's total revenue attributable to the five largest

customers in aggregate was approximately 91.2%.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the percentage of purchases attributable
to the Group's largest subcontractor was approximately 4.3% of the total direct
costs paid for the period, while the percentage of purchases attributable to the
Group's five largest subcontractors and suppliers accounted for approximately
12.3% of the total direct costs paid.

None of the Directors, or any of their close associates or shareholders (which, to
the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company's issued
share capital) has any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest customers or

suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The composition of the Board during the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to

date of this report is set out as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tse Chun Yuen (Chairman)

Mr. Tse Chun Kuen (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Tam Wing Yuen (appointed with effect on 30 June 2021)
Mr. Harilela Mahesh (resigned on 30 June 2021)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Kit (appointed with effect on 30 June 2021)
Mr. U Keng Tin (resigned on 30 June 2021)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Wong Yiu Kwong Kenji
Ms. Chung Lai Ling
Mr. Tang Chi Wai

In accordance with the amended and restated articles of association of the
Company, at each annual general meeting one third of the Directors for the
time being shall retire from office by rotation and every Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Such retiring Directors
may, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the annual general
meeting. All Directors appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold
office until the first general meeting of Shareholders after their appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting and all Directors appointed by
the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the

next following annual general meeting and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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Any Director who has not been subject to retirement by rotation in the three
years preceding the annual general meeting shall retire by rotation at such

annual general meeting.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the amended and restated memorandum and articles of association
of the Company, the applicable laws and regulations, every Director shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or

any of them may incur or sustain in the execution of their duties in their offices.

The Company has arranged liability insurance for Directors' liabilities in respect

of legal actions against Directors arising out of corporate activities.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not terminable by the Group within one year without

payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the Group

are set out on pages 15 to 18 of this report.

EMOLUMENT OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five individuals with highest
emoluments are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
The emolument of the number of the highest paid individuals who are not
the Directors for the year ended 31 March 2022 are set out in Note 11 to the

consolidated financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Company's remuneration policy comprises primarily a fixed component
(in the form of a base salary) and a variable component (which includes
discretionary bonus and other merit-based payments), taking into account other
factors such as their experience, level of responsibility, individual performance,

the profitability of our Group and general market conditions.

The Remuneration Committee will meet at least once each year to discuss
remuneration related matters (including the remuneration of Directors and
senior management) and review the remuneration policy of the Group. It has
been decided that Remuneration Committee would determine, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and

senior management.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

Particulars of retirement benefits plans of the Group as at 31 March 2022 are set

out in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS' INTEREST IN SIGNIFICANT
CONTRACTS

Save as to the related party transactions disclosed in Note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements, no Director had a material interest, either directly or
indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which
the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries was a party during
the year ended 31 March 2022.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS'
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ Report — Related Party
Transactions and Connected Transactions” above and in the section headed
“Relationship with our Controlling Shareholders” in the Prospectus, neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries had entered into any contract of significance
with the Company's controlling shareholders (as defined in the GEM Listing
Rules) or their subsidiaries, or any contract of significance for the provision of
services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the Company’s controlling
shareholders (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) or their subsidiaries during
the year ended 31 March 2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for the service agreements (for executive Directors) and letters of
appointment (for the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors) with the Company entered into by each of the Directors, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole and any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF
INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the controlling shareholders of the Company (the
“Controlling Shareholders”) or their respective close associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) has engaged in any business that competes or may
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group or has or
may have any other conflict of interests with the Group during year ended 31
March 2022.
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DIRECTORS' RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES
OR DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the paragraph headed “DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S INTEREST AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION"
below and the Scheme disclosures in Note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2022 were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in the Company granted
to any Director or their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or
were any such rights exercised by them, or was the Company, or the Company’s
subsidiary or holding company or a subsidiary of the Company’s holding
company a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such

rights in any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTEREST AND SHORT POSITION IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”")) which were notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing

Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Long position in ordinary shares of the Company

Capacity/Nature of interest

g4t
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EFERELM - SRBEGEM E MR BIFE 546 = 568158 AN
SAAR RS RABRBIT

Mr. Tse Chun Yuen Mot Interest in a controlled corporation;

interest held jointly with another person
Ry EEEE  BEMATRERAOES

Interest in a controlled corporation;

SRR 4 A ()
Mr. Tse Chun Kuen et

interest held jointly with another person

il e REEERER - BEMATHRREHER
Mr. Tam Wing Yuen Beneficial owner
EKTTEE E=REAA
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Total number of Shares Percentage of shareholding
IR #B 2 REBDLE
105,000,000 50.14%
105,000,000 50.14%
6,000,000 2.87%




Note:  Land Noble Holdings Limited (‘Land Noble") is beneficially owned as to 50% by
Mr. Tse Chun Yuen and 50% by Mr. Tse Chun Kuen. On 9 May 2017, Mr. Tse Chun
Yuen and Mr. Tse Chun Kuen entered into the an acting in concert confirmation
to acknowledge and confirm, among other things, that they are parties acting in

concert within the meaning of the Hong Kong Code on Takeovers and Mergers.
By virtue of the SFO, Mr. Tse Chun Yuen and Mr. Tse Chun Kuen are deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by Land Noble.
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Long position in the ordinary shares of associated RSB ERNTE —
corporation - Land Noble
Name of associated Number of Percentage of
corporation Capacity/Nature of interest share(s) held interest
AL EE B 515, EmitE PRI 28 B EZED
Mr. Tse Chun Yuen Land Noble Beneficial owner 1 50%
AR5 4 =i EnfAA
Mr. Tse Chun Kuen Land Noble Beneficial owner 1 50%
HIREZ A =i EmEaA

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would have to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of
the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS" AND
OTHER PERSONS' INTEREST AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2022, the following person/entity (other than the Directors and
chief executives of the Company) had or were deemed to have an interest or
a short position in the Shares or the underlying Shares of the Company which
would be required to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
of the Company required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO, or who were
directly or indirectly, to be interested in 10% or more of the nominal value of
any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general

meetings of the Company or any other member of the Group:

Capacity/Nature of interest

g4 HEEtE

Land Noble Beneficial owner

=i BEmEEA

Ms. Or So Lan Mee?) Interest of spouse

=B 2 P e

Ms. Yapp Ngi Yang "2 Interest of spouse

@R i) iRt

Mr. Tse Man Loong Beneficial owner

BMEELE BEamEaA
Notes:

1. Ms. Or So Lan is the spouse of Mr. Tse Chun Yuen. She is deemed, or taken to be,
interested in all Shares in which Mr. Tse Chun Yuen is interested in for the purposes
of the SFO.

2. Ms. Yapp Ngi Yang is the spouse of Mr. Tse Chun Kuen. She is deemed, or taken
to be, interested in all Shares in which Mr. Tse Chun Kuen is interested in for the
purposes of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the substantial or
significant shareholders or other persons, other than the Directors and chief
executives of the Company whose interests are set out in the section “Directors’
Report — Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, had or were deemed to have
an interest or a short position in the shares or the underlying shares of the
Company which would be required to be disclosed to the Company and the
Stock Exchange under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register of the Company remained to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO, or who were directly or indirectly, interested in 10% or
more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to vote in
all circumstances at general meetings of the Company or any other members of

the Group.
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Percentage of interest

Number of share(s) held in our Company

Frs iR 1 8 B EARAFESEE D
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105,000,000 50.14%
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the year ended 31 March 2022, neither the Company nor any of its

subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

In order to avoid any possible future competition between the Group and the
controlling shareholders of the Company (the “Controlling Shareholder’), Mr.
Tse Chun Yuen, Mr. Tse Chun Kuen and Land Noble (each a “Covenantor” and
collectively the “Covenantors’) have entered into the deed of non-competition
(the “Deed of Non-competition”) with the Company (for itself and for the
benefit of each other member of the Group) on 14 September 2017. Pursuant
to the Deed of Non-competition, each of the Covenantors has irrevocably and
unconditionally undertaken to the Company (for itself and as trustee of its
subsidiaries) that, during the period that the Deed of Non-competition remains
effective, he/it shall not, and shall procure that his/its associates (other than any
member of the Group) not to develop, acquire, invest in, participate in, carry
on or be engaged, concerned or interested or otherwise be involved, whether
directly or indirectly, in any business in competition with or likely to be in

competition with the existing business activity of any member of the Group.

Each of the Covenantors further undertakes that if any of he/it or his/its close
associates other than any member of the Group is offered or becomes aware of
any business opportunity which may compete with the business of the Group,
he/it shall (and he/it shall procure his/its associates to) notify the Group in
writing and the Group shall have a right of first refusal to take up such business
opportunity. The Group shall, within 6 months after receipt of the written
notice (or such longer period if the Group is required to complete any approval
procedures as set out under the GEM Listing Rules from time to time), notify the

Covenantor(s) whether the Group will exercise the right of first refusal or not.

The Group shall only exercise the right of first refusal upon the approval of all
the independent non-executive Directors (who do not have any interest in such
opportunity). The relevant Covenantor(s) and the other conflicting Directors (if
any) shall abstain from participating in and voting at and shall not be counted
as quorum at all meetings of the Board where there is a conflict of interest or
potential conflict of interest including but not limited to the relevant meeting
of the independent non-executive Directors for considering whether or not to

exercise the right of first refusal.

Each of the Covenantors also gave certain non-competition undertakings under
the Deed of Non-competition as set out in the paragraph headed "RELATIONSHIP
WITH OUR CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS — DEED OF NON-COMPETITION" in

the Prospectus.
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During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Company had not received any
information in writing from any of the Controlling Shareholders in respect of
any new business opportunity which competed or might compete with the
existing and future business of the Group which were offered to or came to be
the knowledge of the Controlling Shareholders or their associates (other than
any member of the Group), and the Company has received an annual written
confirmation from each Controlling Shareholder of the Company in respect of

him/it and his/its associates in compliance with the Deed of Non-competition.

The independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed and were satisfied
that each of the Controlling Shareholders had complied with the Deed of

Non-competition.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company's corporate governance practices are set out in the

Corporate Governance Report on pages 19 to 34 of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on information that is publicly available to
the Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the Directors confirm
that the Company maintained the public float as required under the GEM
Listing Rules.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no equity-linked agreement entered

into by the Company during the year ended 31 March 2022.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors annual written confirmation of his or her independence pursuant
to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and the Company considers all the

independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2022 were audited by Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited. A resolution will
be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to

re-appoint Zhonghui Anda CPA Limited as auditors of the Company.

On Behalf of the Board

Mr. Tse Chun Yuen
Chairman and executive Director

Hong Kong, 17 June 2022
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b

ZHONGHUI

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
NOBLE ENGINEERING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Noble Engineering

Group Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”’) set out on pages 68 to 123, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,

including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2022, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs’) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Recognition of construction service revenue

Refer to Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group's revenue and profit recognised are based on estimates of the
total outcome of the contracting service contracts and the progress towards
completion of contracting service works. These estimates are significant to our
audit because the construction revenue of approximately HK$275,626,000 for
the year then ended is material to the consolidated financial statements. In
addition, the Group’s estimates involve application of judgement and can be
affected by a variety of uncertainties that depend on the outcome of future

events resulting in revisions throughout the contract period.
Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Reviewing the contract sum and budgeted costs to respective signed

contracts and budgets prepared by management;

- Understanding from management about how the budgets were
prepared and the respective progress towards completion of contracting

service works were determined;

- Reviewing the reasonableness of key judgements inherent in the

budgets;

- Obtaining the certificates issued by customers or progress reports
prepared by the internal project team to evaluate the reasonableness of

progress towards completion of contracting service works;

- Assessing the reasonableness of the budgets by comparing the actual

outcome against management’s estimation of similar contracts; and

- Assessing the appropriateness and adequacy of the disclosures made in

the consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group's recognition of construction service revenue is

supported by the available evidence.

Contract assets and trade and other receivables

Refer to Notes 19 and 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Group tested the amount of contract assets and trade and other receivables
for impairment. This impairment test is significant to our audit because the
balance of contract assets and trade and other receivables of approximately
HK$43,837,000 and HK$19,969,000 respectively as at 31 March 2022 are material
to the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s impairment

test involves application of judgement and is based on estimates.
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Our audit procedures included, among others:

- Assessing the Group’s procedures on granting credit limits and credit

periods to customers;

- Assessing the Group's relationship and transaction history with the

customers;
- Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;
- Assessing ageing of the debts;
- Assessing creditworthiness of the customers;
- Checking subsequent settlements from the customers; and

- Assessing the disclosure of the Group's exposure to credit risk in the

consolidated financial statements.

We consider that the Group's impairment test for contract assets and trade and

other receivables is supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information in the Company’s annual report, but does not

include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required

to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to

cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report
that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated

financial statements.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements is located at the HKICPA's website at: http://www.hkicpa.

org.hk/en/standards-and-regulations/standards/auditing-assurance/auditre/.

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Wan Ho Yuen
Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P04309

Hong Kong, 17 June 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
CAEeBEaRkHEMEE WS K

Fortheyearended 31 March 2022 #tZ —F -~ —#=H=+—HIF&F

Revenue

Direct costs

Gross (loss)/profit

Other income and gain

Administrative and other operating expenses
Finance costs

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries

Loss before tax

Income tax expense

Loss and other comprehensive expense for the

year attributable to owners of the Company

Loss per share
- Basic and diluted (HKS)
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2022
—E_-_F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
275,626 326,662
(299,512) (322,975)
(23,886) 3,687
7 373
(12,309) (11,832)
(15) (26)
- (314)
(36,203) 8,112)
(217) (403)
(36,420) (8,515)
(Restated)
(f&=51)
(0.18) (0.06)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

2021
T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHE T FABT
Non-current assets FEREBEE
Plant and equipment TR B s 15 1,524 3,603
Right-of-use asset EREEE 16 135 271
Equity investment at fair value through BRAFEFAREMEEKE
other comprehensive income AR E 18 70 70
Deferred tax assets RIERIBE E 24 269 486
1,998 4430
Current assets RBEE
Contract assets BHEE 19 43,837 49,203
Trade and other receivables B 5 NEMEW IR 20 19,969 32,877
Bank and cash balances SRITRIR 8 21 44,516 42,770
108,322 124,850
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5N EMENFE 22 17,926 14,114
Lease liabilities HEAE 23 138 133
18,064 14,247
Net current assets REEEFRE 90,258 110,603
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERE 92,256 115,033
Non-current liabilities FEREBAE
Lease liabilities HEBE 23 - 138
NET ASSETS EEFE 92,256 114,895
Capital and reserves EXRR B
Equity attributable to owners of the Company  Z /A B#HHE A (G HER
Share capital %N 25 10,470 6,980
Reserves G 27 81,786 107,915
TOTAL EQUITY R 92,256 114,895

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue RAEMBRER-ZZE_ZFAATCARESSHERK
by the board of Directors on 17 June 2022 and are signed on its behalf by: TR WU TESRRESEEE

Approved by: Tse Chun Yuen Tse Chun Kuen
Director Director

B - ARR AIRE
E3 BE

BESRIBERERERLAT = S50 455 69
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

an\

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #{ %=

SRFEDE

SE - FS A= ALEE

Share
capital
IR
HK$'000
FHT

Attributable to owners of the Company

ESNGE 2PN

Share

premium’

IR A"

HK$'000
THET

Other
reserve’
Hib e
HKS$'000

THT

Retained

earnings’

REBA
HK$'000
FHET

Total
st
HK$'000
FHET

At 1 April 2020 R-ZEB-EFNA—H 6,000 53,987 10,000 48,709 118,696
Loss and total comprehensive FABBELREEASZ
expense for the year Feks) - - - (8,515) (8,515)
Issue of shares on placement & BB TTAR D
(Note 25(i)) (FtEE25()) 980 3,734 = = 4,714
At 31 March 2021 R=B=—-%=A
=+—H 6,980 57,721 10,000 40,194 114,895
At 1 April 2021 N-ZE-_—FmWA—H 6,980 57,721 10,000 40,194 114,895
Loss and total comprehensive FABBREEAS
expense for the year k) - - - (36,420) (36,420)
Issue of shares upon rights issue AR EITID
(Note 25(iii)) (FfFEE25(ii)) 3,490 10,291 - - 13,781
At 31 March 2022 R=ZB=-=f=H
=+—d 10,470 68,012 10,000 3,774 92,256
' These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves in the consolidated d ZERBRPEXGE MBRRRANGE FEE -

statement of financial position.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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Fortheyearended 31 March 2022 #Z —F -~ —#=H=+—HIFFZF

&ﬁ%
2022 2021
—E—-= —E-—F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FER FHT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES KETHESRE
Loss before tax BRERTE IS (36,203) (8,112)
Adjustments for: HE
Finance costs BhE PR A 15 26
Interest income FEWA (7) 77)
Depreciation of plant and equipment B R ETTE 2,079 2352
Depreciation of right-of-use asset EREESERE 136 130
Provision for/(reversal of) loss allowance on sHE(BE S MEERANBERE
financial assets and contract assets i) 511 (181)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries i EHTE A RESE - 314
Operating loss before working capital changes EEASEHNLLEEIE (33,469) (5,548)
Change in contract assets EREEZS 4,966 28,565
Change in trade and other receivables B 5 REMEWKIBEES) 12,797 (10377)
Change in trade and other payables B 5 REMBENFIEES) 3,812 (7,779)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations KEF(EE) EENES (11,894) 4,861
Income taxes repaid EREMRER = 2,095
Lease interests paid EREEFRE (9) 3)
Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities ¥4 EENFT(ENA ), ELEMNIR S IFHE (11,903) 6,953
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES RETHRERE
Interest received EUHFE 7 77
Purchases of plant and equipment BEME RF - (436)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAR = (19)
Net cash generated from/(used in) investing activities & /EEFTESE, (BB S T8 7 (378)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES RETHRERE
Repayment of lease liabilities BREHEEAE (133) (132)
Proceeds from issue of shares BTN TSR 15,007 4,900
Share issue expenses paid EAROEITHEZ (1,226) (186)
Increase in pledged bank deposits BRI T FIL AN (6) (33)
Interest paid BEARFE (6) (23)
Net cash generated from financing activities BEESMEANIRSFE 13,636 4,526
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS B &R B & Z @Y% iNFE 1,740 11,101

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING F¥R&RELZEY
OF YEAR 37,568 26,467

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ATEND OF YEAR FARABEERELSZEY 39,308 37,568

ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERBLSEBYON
Cash and bank balances e MIRTTHES 39,308 37,568
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Noble Engineering Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 12 April 2017 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from 29
September 2017. The address of its registered office is Windward 3,
Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman
Islands. The address of its principal place of business is Room 9, 25/F., CRE
Centre, 889 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Cheung Sha Wan, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities
of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial

statements.

In the opinion of the Directors of the Company, as at 31 March 2022,
Land Noble Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (the “BVI"), is the immediate and ultimate parent; Mr. Tse
Chun Yuen (“Mr. Eric Tse") and Mr. Tse Chun Kuen ("“Mr. CK Tse") are

the ultimate controlling parties of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HK$"), which is the same as the functional currency of the

Company.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has adopted all the new and revised Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “"HKICPA") that are
relevant to its operations and effective for its accounting year beginning
on 1 April 2021. HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRS"); Hong Kong Accounting Standards (‘HKAS"); and
Interpretations. The adoption of these new and revised HKFRSs did
not result in significant changes to the Group’s accounting policies,
presentation of the Group’s consolidated financial statements and

amounts reported for the current year and prior years.

The Group has not applied the new HKFRSs that have been issued but
are not yet effective. The application of these new HKFRSs will not have

material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(the "HKICPA"), and the applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of investments

which are carried at their fair values.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain key assumptions and estimates. It
also requires the Directors to exercise its judgements in the process of
applying the accounting policies. The areas where assumptions and
estimates are significant to these consolidated financial statements, are

disclosed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these

consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 31
March. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights,
to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the Group has
existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant

activities, i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties,
to determine whether it has control. A potential voting right is
considered only if the holder has the practical ability to exercise
that right.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2022
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(a)

(b)

NOBLE ENGINEERING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Consolidation (Continued)

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date

the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of subsidiaries that results in a loss
of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value of
the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any investment
retained in that subsidiaries; and (ii) the Company’s share of
the net assets of that subsidiaries plus any remaining goodwill
relating to that subsidiaries and any related foreign currency

translation reserve.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies

adopted by the Group.

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated

depreciation and impairment losses.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit

or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of plant and equipment is calculated at rates
sufficient to write off their cost less their residual values over the
estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal annual

rate are as follows:

Office equipment 20%
Motor vehicles 25%
Machinery and equipment 25%
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3. BEAEFEBR®

(a)

(b)

maE)
MBATME TS EAEEE AREAA
BE - WA I B A AR

HEKNE QR (BBEREEHR) ilkaEER
BOHERBO AT EMERZM B L RRE
R E N A FEEN AR R ZEME
RAHFEE N % E MR A P A R E
R m 2 R EMERINERE R RN E
B o

SEARFRENR S - EHRIARER GG E

EIERBTAEREELRBERNER® o B
AFNEBREN B EREL B - iR
B REEPTRNAOBR

EE e

R 55 Ko R AR TD AR AR R ITE SR E TR 1%
N

HgRARBEEZIA R B AR R EN s
BRBERAREE - MZIA B MR ARER FEqt
BN TeRERENRRENSER B
BE(ERE) - IEEMBBERREEESE
HFR AR BREANER

TR 55 R 3R AR B0 AT BE 4R R AR S LA AR KL R84
BEMWLE - AERETEER G A EEE
HZHE - TEFELERFIIWT

NS 20%
bt 25%
Hees RS E 25%




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(b)

(c)

Plant and equipment (Continued)

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each

reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying

amount of the relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use asset and corresponding
lease liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by
the Group. Right-of-use asset are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use
asset is calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter
of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

The principal annual rates are as follows:
Premise 50%

Right-of-use asset are measured at cost comprising the amount
of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments
prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the lease payments
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that
rate can be determined, or otherwise the Group's incremental
borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate

of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are
leases with an initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value

assets are assets of value below US$5,000.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Contin

(d)

(e)

ued)

Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party

to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights
to receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets;
or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained
control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of

the consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit

or loss.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract
whose terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe
established by the market concerned, and are initially recognised
at fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs except
in the case of investments at fair value through profit or loss.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
investments at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following

categories:
- Financial assets at amortised cost; and

- Equity investments at fair value through other

comprehensive income.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. ERETTEER®

(Continued)

(e) Financial assets (Continued)

(e) EWEE®)

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost Q) BEBEEAIRNEHEE
Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) BEZENSENeHEE(BEES
are classified under this category if they satisfy both of the K E b FEW IR ) BRI FF & T 51 fR I8
following conditions: 1645
= the assets are held within a business model whose —  AREDNERENABBEENKE
objective is to hold assets in order to collect BHRRENEBENRE &
contractual cash; and
= the contractual terms of the assets give rise — EBENGAKIREEBHES
on specified dates to cash flows that are solely EBRINAERREERSTE
payments of principal and interest on the principal FIFRBME ©
amount outstanding.
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using BHE B BB AR SRR IHOR
the effective interest method less loss allowance for BRI EEEENEERETE -
expected credit losses.
(ii)  Equity investments at fair value through other (i) ERFEFARMEE Kz ZKEERE

comprehensive income

On initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to
designate investments in equity instruments that
are not held for trading as at fair value through other

comprehensive income.

Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are subsequently measured at fair
value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair
values recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the equity investment revaluation reserve.
On derecognition of an investment, the cumulative gains
or losses previously accumulated in the equity investment

revaluation reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends on these investments are recognised in profit
or loss, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of

part of the cost of the investment.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(f)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses
on financial assets at amortised cost and contract assets. Expected
credit losses are the weighted average of credit losses with the

respective risks of a default occurring as the weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the loss
allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the
expected credit losses that result from all possible default events
over the expected life of that financial instrument (“lifetime
expected credit losses”) for trade receivables and contract
assets, or if the credit risk on that financial instrument has

increased significantly since initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables and contract assets) has
not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an
amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected credit losses
that represents the expected credit losses that result from default
events on that financial instrument that are possible within 12

months after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the
loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required
amount is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or

loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(9)

(h)

(i)

1)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-
term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of
change in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are

also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered
into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract
that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted
for specific financial liabilities and equity instruments are set out
below.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be

immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the

proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k)

(U]

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in
a contract with a customer with reference to the customary
business practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf
of third parties. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised
product or service exceeds one year, the consideration is adjusted

for the effect of a significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a
customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws
that apply to that contract, a performance obligation can be
satisfied over time or at a point in time. A performance obligation is

satisfied over time if:

- the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the

benefits provided by the Group's performance;

- the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced;

or

- the Group's performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control

of the product or service.

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(m) Employee benefits

)

(i)

(i)

()

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of
services rendered by employees up to the end of each

reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave

are not recognised until the time of leave.

Retirement benefits

The Group operates defined contribution plans and pays
contributions to privately administered pension insurance
plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis.
The Group has no further payment obligations once
the contributions have been paid. The contributions are
recognised as employee benefit expenses when they are
due. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future

payments is available.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits when it is demonstrably
committed to a termination when the entity has a detailed
formal plan to terminate the employment of current
employees without possibility of withdrawal. In the case
of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on the number
of employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits falling
due more than 12 months after the end of each reporting

period are discounted to present value.

Bonus plan

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered by
employees and a reliable estimate of such obligation can

be made.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(n)

Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred

tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are
never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is
calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively

enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of
taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be utilised. Such assets
and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities
in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the

accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
and interests in joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to

allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(n)

(o)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover

or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its

current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Segment reporting

Operating segments and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing the performance of the Group's various

lines of business.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of productions processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 3. EAEBFBE =
(Continued)
(p) Related parties (p) FEAEER
Arelated party is a person or entity that is related to the Group. BBt REAEEFRE AL EE -
(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is @ —RATHEILBRMWFEATHRE - Al

related to the Group if that person: A& B A B

(i) has control or joint control over the Group; 0] e L RE HI AR EE

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or iy HASEBEAFE %

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of (i) ARRARXARAAEAANEE
the Company or of a parent of the Company. BTEENXE -

(b)  An entity is related to the Group (reporting entity) if any of () —HERBMEE TIEMMEG - BIER
the following conditions applies: SEEMEE(REEE) :

() The entity and the Company are members of () ZEEBREAARBR—EEZK
the same group (which means that each parent, BRR(AEEATE - HEAR &
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries is related to the EEI YNSRI
others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the iy —HEEBASHEMNBEZEAR
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a HELETE(HS—EBAKER
member of a group of which the other entity is a AIZEEETKEARIZHER
member). AIEE ) -

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third iy MEBEEHAR—FZAFHNEE
party. o

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the vy —HEBAE=-FEBNAED
other entity is an associate of the third entity. ¥ mME—ERR/RZE=FEE

BB N A o

(v} The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for V) ZEBR/BEBEBEAEE - Zt
the benefit of employees of either the Group or EMNERABNEESEREE
an entity related to the Group. If the Group s itself BEMNERNES  WEAEBEX
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also B RZErE - ABMEEIEAE
related to the Group. EEHERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(p)

(a)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a

person identified in (a).

(vi) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(vii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Company or to a parent of the

Company.

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets except
deferred tax assets, investments and receivables to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent
of any impairment loss. Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the

asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of

the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Contin

(a)

(r)

ued)
Impairment of assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at
a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as

a revaluation decrease.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation
or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset or cash-generating unit in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case
the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation

increase.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present

value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as

contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)
(s) Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period or those that indicate the going concern
assumption is not appropriate are adjusting events and are
reflected in the financial statements. Events after the reporting
period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to

the financial statements when material.

4. KEY ESTIMATES

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a)  Progress towards completion of contracting service works

The Group recognises its contract revenue over time by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation of the end of the reporting period, measured based on
the surveys of work performed to date of the individual contract
of contracting service works relative to total contract value.
Because of the nature of the activity undertaken in construction
contracts, the date at which the contract activity is entered into
and the date when the activity is completed usually fall into
different accounting period and actual cost or revenue may be
higher or lower than estimated at the end of the reporting period,
which could affect the revenue and profit recognised in future
years as an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date. The
Group reviews and revises the estimates of contract revenue,
contract costs and variation orders prepared for each construction
contract as the contract progresses. Management regularly
reviews the progress of the contracts and the corresponding

costs of the contract revenue.
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4. KEY ESTIMATES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

)

(c

FEstimated impailrment of trade receivables and contract

assets

The Directors of the Company estimate the amount of loss
allowance for trade receivables and contract assets based on
the credit risk of trade receivables and contract assets. The loss
allowance amount is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows with the consideration of expected future credit losses.
The assessment of the credit risk of trade receivables and contract
assets involves high degree of estimation and uncertainty as the
Directors of the Company estimates the loss rates for debtors by
using forwardlooking information. When the actual future cash
flows are less than expected or more than expected, a material
impairment loss or a material reversal of impairment loss may
arise accordingly. For details of impairment assessment, please
refer to Notes 19 and 20.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to
recognised tax losses at 31 March 2022 was approximately HKSNil
(2021: HK$577,000). The amount of unrecognised tax losses
as at 31 March 2022 was approximately HK$54,157,000 (2021:
HK$17,045,000). Further details are contained in Note 24.
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5.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk,

liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group’s overall risk management

programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and

seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial

performance.

(a)

Credit risk

Credit risk arises mainly from trade and other receivables, bank
balances and contract assets. The Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in the event of the counterparties’ failure to perform
their obligations as at the reporting dates in relation to each class
of recognised financial assets and contract assets is the carrying
amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

The credit risk of bank balances are limited because the
counterparties are banks with sound credit ratings assigned by

international credit-rating agencies.

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and
other receivables and contract assets. In order to minimise the
credit risk, the Group has applied the simplified approach under
HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime expected credit
loss (“ECL") for trade receivables and contract assets. The Group
has applied the general approach under HKFRS 9 to measure the
loss allowance at 12 month ECL for other financial assets.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout the
reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at
the date of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable

and supportive forward-looking information.

The Group uses four categories for those receivables and contract
assets which reflect their credit risk and how the loss provision is
determined for each of those categories. These internal credit risk

ratings are aligned to external credit ratings.
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5. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (contnvey 5. & bR EIE )
(a) Credit risk (Continued) (a) FEERR®E
The following table shows the Group's credit risk grading TRERAEENEERMRTRIESR
framework:
Loss provision
it e
Trade receivables Other financial
Category Definition and contract assets assets
BESEWRIER
k| BHEE HitemEE
Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of default or Lifetime expected 12 month expected
BT has not been a significant increase in credit risk since credit loss credit loss
initial recognition and that are not credit-impaired (refer ~ Z2HATEHI(EEEE EABHEEESE
toas Stage 1)
EAERIK S B V16 BER A RS B R R I AR BR Z L AN
BirEEERENeMEE(BAFIKR)
Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant Lifetime expected Lifetime expected
RER increase in credit risk since initial recognition but that credit loss — not credit loss — not
are not credit-impaired (refer to as Stage 2) credit-impaired credit-impaired
BYIETERAREERBAEZ L ML REERER 2 HEREEEE 2 HEREEER
CREEBAELER) —WEEERE —WREERE
Default Financial assets are assessed as credit-impaired when one Lifetime expected Lifetime expected
B or more events that have a detrimental impact on the credit loss — credit loss —
estimated future cash flows of that asset have occurred credit-impaired credit-impaired
(refer to as Stage 3) >HEHREEEE TR E B 18
BHE—IESA FHEREEMRARARRERES TH —EERE —ZERE
TENEME  eREENEALREEREGE
BEIME)
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount is written-off Amount is written-off
sy financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic W SE R IE s A
prospect of recovery
B BRI B I B E B I R £ B AN SR [ 0
B LER D FIE
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5. FlNANCIAL RlSK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group applies individual assessment and/or collectively using
a provision matrix with appropriate groupings to measure the
ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9 as stated in below:

The ECL rates applied in the individual assessment are estimated
based on historical observed default rates over the expected life
of the debtors and internal credit rating by reference to a study
of other corporates’ default and recovery data from international
credit rating agencies, and are adjusted for forward-looking
information (for example, the current and forecasted economic
growth rates in Hong Kong, which reflect the general economic
conditions of the industry in which the debtors operate) that is
available without undue costs or efforts. Such forward-looking
information is used by the management of the Group to assess
both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at

the reporting date.

The ECL rates applied in the provision matrix are estimated based
on historical observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly
reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about

specific debtors is updated.

Relevant information with regard to the exposure of credit risk
and ECL for contract assets and trade and other receivables as at
31 March 2022 and 2021 are set out in Notes 19 and 20.

The Group made approximately HK$511,000 (2021: Nil) for write-
off on trade and other receivables and contract assets during the
year ended 31 March 2022.

iR a W% R 3R MY AT

Fortheyearended 31 March 2022 #Z —F - —#F=H=+—HIFFZE

5. TREREREw

(@) FERRG)

AEBETERIFT R SRS B BEHBE
1%%@3_??%HMR:F1EL/(?§TXFJ?L§/%E7J'?%#E
HELESRNRE EEREEEE

fERIFHEFTEMAREREBREXTIDEREBA
ERFHNATERRMSENEREZEKE
SRPRBEEEME RN RO BURAT
TEHABMEEFREL G - LRBHHH
BZRAEE DA RGN E R (FIFE
AE BRI RIRARERERE  RIMEBARLE
FRETTEMBRBEERNELRE - AEE
EIEEEAA MR AR EERS B
BRI RIBRT A -

BREEEMEREREEBREXDAREBA
TREF PR EREMSEORELME - I
MR HBZRARLS NI IS HATIEE
FHEHFE - BREE RN B D BUAER
ARRFEEBANBRERBSRTESR

BN TR —F=A=+—H
BHBENRE S REMERRBAEZEE
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5.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continve)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk Continued)
Concentration of credit risk

The Group has concentration of credit risk in trade and other
receivables and contract assets as there were 4 customers (2021:
2 customers) which individually contributed over 10% of the
Group's trade and other receivables and contract assets. The
aggregate amounts of trade and other receivables and contract
assets from these customers amounted to approximately 76.8%
(2021: 72.2%) of the Group's total trade and other receivables and
contract assets as at 31 March 2022. There is no recent history of
default and these companies are listed in Hong Kong and also
are part of a leading well-known conglomerate in Hong Kong.
The Group has categorised these customers as “Performing” and
determined its loss allowance based on lifetime expected credit
losses. For the detail on the loss allowance please refer to Notes
19 and 20.

Other than the above, the Group has no other significant
concentration of credit risk with exposure spread over a large

number of counterparties and customers.

Liquidity risk

The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short

and longer term.

The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash flows, of the

Group's financial liabilities is as follows:

At 31 March 2022 P ——
Trade and other payables B5NRE

5.

7 435 )

SRR E IR )

(a)

(b)

F=A=+—H
R FRIR

FEREE)
EPEEABE
REERE S RHAMEEHEARADEES
AARREERR  F42ES(ZT=—4F

BB )EBME AN E B 5 K H h FE U IE A
REHEEBBEI0% REZSEEFPNEI R
Hitt B R IER AN EERBIEAERR =
TZ_F=ZA=1+—HNEHKHEMERK
ARG EERTENAN68%( ZF-—4F :
722%)  EEAN AR LY - AZERAAE
BEMARRBEBBRANZEE - AEEE B
ZEEPHBEAIETY]  WREZHEHRE
EBBETHEERE AHBRREENF
15 - FB2RMFE19K%20 ©

B batEsN - REBYEAMENETEER
B HEERIBRZEBHFIRES -

REBESREK
AEERRATHEEANREHADELE
KA R AR BRENESRER
BORBELES -

AEBESRAENIHAENIFGHRESRE
AT

Total
st
HK$’000
FET

Less than 1 year

DR—EF

HK$'000
FHT

17,926 17,926

Less than 1 year
SR
HKS$'000
FAT

HK$'000

FHIT

At 31 March 2021 RZZE-_—F=A=1+—H

Trade and other payables B 5 NEMENFIE 14,114
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continve)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Interest rate risk

As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets and
liabilities, the Group's operating cash flows are substantially

independent of changes in market interest rates.

Categories of financial instruments at 31 March
2022

e MR

Fortheyearended 31 March 2022 #Z —F - —#F=H=+—HIFFZE

5. éEEMiLﬁ%%E@@)

() F=E@EER
HRAEBTEEATEEERERE  thEAE
EMEERSRELTTITIMSHRESE
s,

=

d R-TB-_—F£=A=+—HWHWERI
B35

2022 2021
s —E——F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Financial assets: EWMEE
Equity investment at fair value through other BATESAEMEEKER
comprehensive income AR & 70 70
Financial assets at amortised cost: IR ENSREE -
Financial assets included in trade and FTAE S R H A EUGRIER
other receivables SREE 14,462 24,855
Bank and cash balances SRITRIRE L8 44,516 42,770
Total wEt 59,048 67,695
Financial liabilities: LRIBE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: IRESH AT R SR (E -
Trade and other payables B NEMENFIA 17,926 14,114
Total wEt 17,926 14,114
Fair value (e) AF¥E

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of financial

position approximate their respective fair values.

WEAMBRARARRN N EEERMEER
CRAGENREERES 5O TERS -
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Segments

Zay:ii

Geographical markets
Hong Kong

Major products/service
Provision of wet trades works services

Timing of revenue recognition
Over time

FTEERRE
RAEVRK TR

Mok TEREFET
B ]
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6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6. WamkpIPER
2021
—=s-= — T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Provision of wet trades works services 12K TIZRRFS 275,626 326,662
Revenue from contracts with customers BPEEHKE 275,626 326,662
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers: SIFEEE LR -
Wet trades
works services 2022
business Total
JKIRE —EB-—F
BRI 2T et
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Geographical markets W
Hong Kong % 275,626 275,626
Major products/service FEER R
Provision of wet trades works services R ITIRRS 275,626 275,626
Timing of revenue recognition Wz HEZRAF AT
Over time B 5 R 275,626 275,626

Wet trades
works services
business

TR TAE
RIS 575
HK$'000
FET

HK$'000
FTAT

326,662 326,662
326,662 326,662
326,662 326,662
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT
| N F O R M ATI O N (Continued)

Wet trades works services business
Recognition

The Group provides wet trades works (including tile laying, brick laying,
plastering, floor screeding and marble works) under contracts with
customers. Such contracts are entered into before the services begin.
Under the terms of the contracts, the Group is contractually required to
perform the works at the customers’ specified sites such that the Group's
performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as

the Group performs.

Revenue is recognised progressively using output method which
recognises revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value
to the customer of the promised goods or services transferred to date
relative to the remaining goods or services promised under the contract
with the customer. The progress towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligations in the contract is determined based on
the value of performance completed to date as a percentage of total
transaction price to depict the transfer of control of the goods or services
to the customer. The Group recognises revenue over time only if it
can reasonably measure its progress toward complete satisfaction of
the performance obligation. However, if the Group cannot reasonably
measure the outcome but expects to recover the costs incurred in
satisfying the performance obligation, then it recognises revenue to the
extent of the costs incurred. The Directors of the Company consider that
output method would faithfully depict the Group's performance towards

complete satisfaction of these performance obligations under HKFRS 15.

iR a W% R 3R MY AT

Fortheyearended 31 March 2022 #Z —F - —#F=H=+—HIFFZE
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AEERBET P NE NRERKIRRS
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For the year ended 31 March 2022 #{ %=

6.

B B 1% ) R MY A

SE - FS A= ALEE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT
I N FO RMATI O N (Continued)

Wet trades works services business (Continued)
Variable consideration

The Group considers both the terms of the contracts entered into
with its customers and its customary business practices to determine
the transaction prices for each of its construction projects. The Group
determines the transaction price as the amount of consideration to
which it expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised
goods or services to the customer. When estimating transaction prices
for construction projects in progress, the Group recognises that the
amounts of consideration would vary because of price discounts and
rebates, which are usually finalised and agreed with the customers
during the final certification stage of the projects. Although such
variability relating to the consideration promised by the customers
are not explicitly stated in the contracts, the Group considers that the
customers have valid expectations arising from customary business
practices that the price concessions would be given to the customers
at the end of the construction projects. Hence the estimates of variable
consideration are typically constrained to the extent that it is highly
probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the uncertainty associated with the

variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

Revenue from major customers

Revenue from major customers, each of whom amounted to 10% or

more of the total revenue, is set out below:

Customer A EPA
Customer B =B
Customer C BPC
Customer D EFD
Customer E BFE

The above customer represents a collection of companies within a

group. All the revenue are generated from wet trades works services

business.
# The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of total revenue
of the Group.
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Wz K o &

K TRRBRS 2
TREE

AEERETE TRBRRZERESEHELTF]
IHANGERMEEBEEEER - ARERRSHEE
ERETRHR AT P BB A ek RIS A HEHRE
RELE - FHAERIIEEBENRHER - AEERE
RREFESEERTNRENTMAE  KESHE
FRERRKBERRETFPEERRE - BERFS

FrEGEREBREN AT Z TS RNELTIH - KEER
B BPRABEERERMECEHENIREERA
R RPSEERESR - At REREAENAE

TRRAR AR E B R AR EBORES - PRER A RET e
SREAI TG AEAREE - RIMTERENGET R
SR

TEEFHWE

ZFBD AN BRE10%TIA LM EER PR ESH S
R
2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
:F;%i F/EJE
35,976 123,826
138,534 127,238
N/A i@ F* 33,578
45,098 N/A 738 A
31,614 N/A 38 A
i EFEZRZEQRNATRGE - iBkEY
Eia%kﬁfﬁﬁi‘%%i% °

* FEE Y = I S R S B 4B W 2 R 38 10% ©
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT 6.

I N FO RMATI O N (Continued)

Revenue from major customers (Continued)

The chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the board of
Directors of the Company. The board of Directors regards the Group's
wet trades works services business as a single operating segment and
regularly reviews the operating results of the Group as a whole when
making decisions about resources to be allocated and assessing its
performance. Also, the Group only engages its business in Hong Kong.
Therefore, all revenue of the Group is derived from operations carried
out in Hong Kong and all non-current assets of the Group are located in

Hong Kong. Accordingly, no segment information is presented.

OTHER INCOME AND GAIN 7.

Wz K o B E

FREFEFHRE )
EREFAAANEFERIBLEERRE - EFER
REBORKTRRBES R —EE KL - A
SO BERANRE MEHERR E BN AR BB
RERE - I AEBRARBBLEEEY -
It AEEZBRATRENEBETHER - AX
SE2HIERDEEBUNER - RAEETHHE
e

H AW A K W g

2022
—=—-=

HK$'000

FET
Bank interest income HRITFLBMA 7 77

Reversal of loss allowance on financial assets and CRIEERSHNEERDBIBEE

contract assets - 181
Others Eoh - 115
7 373

FINANCE COSTS 8.

Lease interests HEFL
Interest on bank overdrafts RITEZFE
Total borrowing costs Ep -l

BE A AR

2022
g
HK$’000
TExT
9 3
6 23
15 26

MEEIREEERARAE S5 E 00
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R
/E N/
9. INCOME TAX 9. PTG
2022 2021
—s-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Deferred tax (Note 24) FEFEFLIE (M 5E24) (217) (403)
Total tax expense for the year FAFIEFRZ R (217) (403)
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for the year AR AEBRF AW EREBEETWERBREF -
ended 31 March 2022 as the Group did not generate any assessable B ERBE T - —F - A=+ —HLFEELAE
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year (2021: Nil). A EBFESHEE T _—F : &) -
The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the product of Fr{SHi 5 S BpR T A S B R LA BB F S R R A SFE
loss before tax multiplied by the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate is as follows: ZHAEERAT

2022

—E—_—

HK$000
FHET

Loss before tax MR EE 36,203 (8,112)

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5% (2021: 16.5%) 1R N3 15551 K 16.5%:1 & 2 18

(ZF=—%F 1 165%) (5,973) (1338)
Tax effect of income that is not taxable BERBRBANTHZLE (1) (1357)
Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible TAMRAZ OB R R 2 2
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERBIBEENRETE 5,755 2,290
Income tax expense FriSfif S (217) (403)
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10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

The Group's loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the

following:

Depreciation of plant and equipment

Auditor's remuneration

Subcontracting fee included in direct costs

Wage subsidies from employment support
scheme included in direct costs

Provision for/(reversal of) loss allowance on
financial assets and contract assets

Staff costs including Directors’ emoluments
Salaries, bonus and allowances

Retirement benefits scheme contributions

Fortheyearended 31 March 2022 #Z —F - —#F=H=+—HIFFZE

e B ERRNE

10. FREE

51 -

B MBI E 15
ZEE BN &
FIAEERERNSBE
FTAEBRERNRMETE
TEA
TR (BE)ERMEEREL
BERBBEE
BIRAN(RIEEEHE)
R (A a==1"
RRIEFFT B

19,20

AEBZFABEIENG  GIA)ATEEERZ

2022 2021
—E_F

HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FAT
2,079 2,352
700 700
255,992 275,304
- (8,028)
511 (181)
20,850 16,883
735 593
21,585 17,476

MEEIREEERARAE S5 E 00
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11. DIRECTORS' AND EMPLOYEES’

EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The emoluments of each Director were as follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Tse Chun Yuen (Note (i))
Mr. Tse Chun Kuen (Note (i))
Mr. Harilela Mahesh (Note (ii)

Mr. Tam Wing Yuen (Note (iii))

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Tang Chi Wai
Ms. Chung Lai Ling
Mr. Wong Yiu Kwong Kenji

Non-executive Directors:
Mr.UKeng Tin (Note (ii))
Mr. Cheung Kit (Note (iii))
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HITEE:
HHRR 72 (FEE0)
FitREz A (BEEG)
Harilela Mahesh ¢ &

(FzE ()
ok e s £ (ki)

B TS
B
e
i

FHTES
RERFEE (M)
AT (P RE i)

ik
HK$'000
TRT

11. EF K& 2 89 H N

(a)

For the year ended 31 March 2022
BE-Z-—F-A=1+-HLEE

Salaries,
allowances
and benefits
in kind

e RER
BRIz
HK$000
TER

Discretionary

bonus

BBt
HK$'000
FHRR

Retirement
benefit
scheme

contributions
RIMEF

HE 6
HK$000
TER

EERTEBTHRABNEMH
EEENFMOT :

Total

emoluments

o
HK$/000
TR

= 600 = = 600
= 600 = = 600
45 = = 2 47
135 = = 7 142
180 1,200 = 9 1,389
120 = = = 120
120 = = = 120
120 = = = 120
360 = = = 360
30 = = = 30
90 = = = 90
120 = = = 120
660 1,200 = 9 1,869
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES' 1. EEREENFHFMN
E M O L U M E NTS (Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (@) EBERTETHAENTEN2Z)
(Continued)

ar ended 31 March 2021
HE_T-_—&F-A=t—HIFE
Salaries, Retirement

allowances benefit

and benefits Discretionary scheme Total

Fees inkind bonus contributions emoluments
SRIRAER
ik B BETEA ST
HK$'000 ! HK$'000 HK$'000
THBT B TET TEL

Executive Directors: WITES
Mr. Tse Chun Yuen (Note (i) HHRR 52 (BT - 600 - - 600
Mr. Tse Chun Kuen (Note (i) Re 5 A (EEG) = 600 = = 600
Mr. Harilela Mahesh (Note (ii) Harilela Mahesh?t &
(G 93 - - 5 9%
93 1,200 - 5 1,298
Independent non-executive Directors: ~ BM FFHITES ¢
Mr. Tang Chi Wai HEREEE 135 = = = 135
Ms. Chung Lai Ling BERT 135 - - - 135
Mr. Wong Yiu Kwong Kenji it 135 - - - 135
405 - - - 405
Non-executive Director: FHITES :
Mr.UKeng Tin (Note (i) REXR 54 (M) 62 = = = 62
62 - - - 62
560 1,200 - 5 1,765
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ESRERITRAEHHM @)

11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES' 1. EEREENFHFMN
E M O L U M E N TS (Continued)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a)
(Continued)
Notes:

(0] Mr. Tse Chun Kuen and Mr. Tse Chun Yuen were also Directors
of certain subsidiaries of the Company and/or employees of the
Group for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 and the Group
paid emoluments to them in their capacity as the Directors of
these subsidiaries and/or employees of the Group.

(ii) Appointed on 25 September 2020 and resigned on 30 June 2021.

(iii) Appointed on 30 June 2021.

There was no arrangement under which a Director waived or

agreed to waive any emoluments during the year.

(b) Five highest paid individual emoluments (b)

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year

included 2 (2021: 2) Directors whose emoluments are reflected in

the analysis presented above. The emoluments of the remaining
3(2021: 3) individuals are set out below:

0] REBEZTE-_—FR-ZTE=-_—F=A=1+—
AIEFE - @R £ RFIRIR S £ I HE
AARETHBRAREER SALEMNE
8 MAKBENEERZENBRARNES
&/ SANEENREE FNRESLHBE -

(ii) RZZE-_TFAA-TREBESZT ¥R =
T_—FXA=Z1HBHE-

iy WHR-TBE-—FA=+HEZT-

RER  TEREEFEHENEXRBREER
S EAI 2B o

T RREHMA T 895

FR - AEENRAEESHHALTEER(Z
B —F 2R)EF HeRBER EXH
e B T3R(ZT—F : 3B)maFMAL
BN T T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e EMREYHE
Discretionary bonus BB TEAL
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIREFIE BRI
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2022 2021
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HK$'000 HKS$'000

FExT FHT

1,500 1616

235 80

54 54

1,789 1,750
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES' N. EBREENHM -
E M O L U M E N TS (Continued)
(b) Five highest paid individual emoluments (b) EEESTFMALTHEMNZ)
(Continued)
The emoluments fell within the following band: e BN T5IEHE -

Number of employees

BEAZ

2022

==

Nil — HK$1,000,000 Z 21,000,000/ 7T 3 3
During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any RERN  AEEYEAENEESTEEHTMA T
of the Directors or the highest paid individuals as an inducement & - YERBGEEMASKINAZRSEEZ K RE e RRE
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of BRAE1E -
office.
AY 3— e
12. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES 12. BRIRFEFETE
The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the “"MPF REBBIBEEERGIEABETEGHN BT EREE
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes BEREER AL ESFE([BELFE ) - K
Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The Group's EERMBESHEACERNIEREEFERIELZ
contributions to the MPF Scheme are calculated at 5% of the salaries 5%t E  BHREEGARKERRI150087T - EE
and wages subject to a monthly maximum amount of contribution of msaiEeFEEL e - BNRBEEME ©

HK$1,500 per employee and vest fully with employees when contributed
into the MPF Scheme.

n
13. DIVIDENDS 13. K&
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the HE-TZ-—_F=A=+—RHALFE  HERELRA
Company during the year ended 31 March 2022, nor has any dividend LTERBRSZNSIERSTRRE - BRESHRENE
been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2021: Nil). BREREMRE(ZZE—F 1 &)

HERIBEEERERLAT —— 440 hs 103
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14. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic loss per share attributable to owners of the
Company is based on the loss for the year attributable to owners of
the Company of approximately HK$36,420,000 (2021: HK$8,515,000)
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of approximately
199,615,000 (2021: 144,410,000) in issue during the year.

No diluted earnings per share are presented as the Company did not
have any dilutive potential ordinary sharing during the two years ended
31 March 2022.

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share is based on

the following:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Y — - 4=

14. BIREE
KRB BEANBESREABENDEARGBREA
A JE A £ S B 18 #4936,420000/8 L (- &2 — — £ -
85150007870 ) B &F B 3517 & 3@ A% A0 I F 15 AR 8k
#9199,615,0008% ( —Z = —4F : 144,410,0000%) 51 & -

ARBRBE-E-—F=A=+—HIWMAEFEL
EARBITEIMNESEE SRR - ALBEZYER
BEEEF) o

SRERREEANTIRE N5 SHAF

2022
—E-CF

HK$’000
TExT

Loss Eig
Loss for the purpose of calculating basic and

diluted earnings per share &8

Number of shares RGEEH
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
in issue during the year for the purposes of the

basic and diluted loss per share

Note: The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the year ended 31
March 2021 for the purposes of calculating basic and diluted loss per share
have been adjusted for the issue of new shares by way of rights issue which
took place on 11 June 2021.
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36,420 8,515

(Restated)
(g 5E51)

RREESRERREERIEZ
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199,615 144,410
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15. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. MEKZE

Machinery
Office Motor and

equipment vehicles equipment Total

WARM AE WERRE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T TR TR

COST: RN
At 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 RZZE-Z—FMA—HRK

—E-—H#=A=+—H 396 1,370 10,696 12,462
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION: ZEHE -
At 1 April 2021 R-ZE-—FMA—H 260 1,013 7,586 8,859
Charge for the year FAZH 66 105 1,908 2,079
At 31 March 2022 R-ZE-_—_#=A=+—H 326 1,118 9,494 10,938
CARRYING AMOUNT: BRMEE :
At 31 March 2022 RZE-_—_F=/A=+—H 70 252 1,202 1,524
COST: B
At 1 April 2020 RZZE-ZFTFNHYA—H 379 951 10,696 12,026
Additions RE 17 419 = 436
At 31 March 2021 RZTEZ—F=A=+—H 396 1,370 10,696 12,462
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION: jﬂﬁ% :
At 1 April 2020 RZZE-ZFTFMHA—H 182 951 5374 6,507
Charge for the year FRLH 78 62 2,212 2,352
At 31 March 2021 RZTEZ—F=A=+—H 260 1,013 7,586 8,859
CARRYING AMOUNT: BRI :
At 31 March 2021 RZTEZ—F=A=+—H 136 357 3,110 3,603
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16. LEASE AND RIGHT-OF-USE ASSET

Disclosures of lease-related items

6. HERERBEE
HEEMER RS

2022
—E——
HK$’000
FERT
At 31 March: R=A=+—-8:
Right-of-use asset EREEE
~ Premise —E 135 271
The maturity analysis, based on undiscounted cash ~ AEBIMHEE FEIERURBSTRE
flows, of the Group’s lease liabilities is as follows: ZEEBESWTWT
— Less than 1 year Nk 142 142
— Between 1 and 2 years —1Z2%F - 142
142 284

Year ended 31 March:

2022
===

HK$’000
TExT

BZ=A=1+—HIEE:

Depreciation charge of right-of-use asset EREEENITEER

~ Premise — % 136 130
Lease interests HEFE 9 3
Expenses related to short-term leases HEHEEA 313 649
Total cash outflow for leases HERE ML AR 455 784
Addition to right-of-use asset NEFREEE - 271

AEBEREYX - HEBRETEARET BMEF o
HEGRTDER BEER - BT 88 TR ER
KAt - HEBALEEINEMRLY - MEEEEDT
S REERIER

The Group leases premise. Lease agreements are typically made for fixed
periods of two years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis
and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased assets may not

be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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17. SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the subsidiaries as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 are as
follows:

Place of
incorporation/
registration and Issued and

operation

ML
B E S

17.

paid up capital

ERTRBERAR

B S =)

RZBE-_—FR-_E-_—F=A=+—HWBRARZ
EILUNNE

Percentage of

ownership interest Principal activities

B R L
Direct

i

EEXEK

Indirect

SIEE

Noble Wisdom Holdings Limited BVI 4 ordinary shares of 100% - Investment holding
US$1 each
BEERARAR RBELHS AR A EE 1 ETTE A
A
Eric Tse Cement Works Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 - 100% Provision of wet trades
Company Limited works in Hong Kong
RREKTRERAT B 10,000,00078 7T REBRHRKTE

The above list contains the particulars of subsidiaries which principally
affected the results, assets or liabilities of the Group.

EQUITY INVESTMENT AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

18.

BAFEFIBRORAE S

Equity security, at fair value

Unlisted equity security I FTHIRANE
Analysed as: pax iy
Non-current assets EMEEE

The above investment is intended to be held for the medium to long-
term. Designation of this investment as equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income can avoid the volatility of the fair
value changes of this investment to the profit or loss.

The net assets of the unlisted equity security mainly represent cash
and bank balance. The carrying amount of the unlisted equity security
approximate its respective fair value.

18.

AR5

LEABEIEYEARELE  AELABRNIEA
TS -
AV EFTARMEEREEZ

BRARE

2022
===

2021
T
HK$'000
i

HK$’000
FHET

70 70

70 70

LR ERT RIS o BRREREREZAFER
AR EER SRR E TR 2R AN A FEE
PEBHAED -

FELTRABFNFEETERB S RIRTTHAMR - JF

ERBEAESORAEEESBOAFERE

MEEIREEERARAE S5 E 00
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For the year ended 31 March 2022

HE—FE - —F=A=+—HIIFE

19. CONTRACT ASSETS

Disclosures of revenue-related items {5 1EEATE B VIR E

As at
31 March 2022
R=-===

As at
31 March 2021

=+-8
HK$'000
F7

=A=+-~
HK$'000
BT

As at
1 April 2020

HK$'000
Tt

EREE—TOKITIZR

Contract assets — wet trades works

services 45,777 50,743 79,308
Provision for loss allowance [EstE B (1,940) (1,540) (1,696)
Total contract assets BHIEERT 43,837 49,203 77,612

RERDPEEREXNBHEELTRPR U TFERER

Transaction prices allocated to performance obligations unsatisfied at

end of year and expected to be recognised as revenue in:

-2022
-2023
—-2024

Significant changes in contract assets

during the year

Increase due to operations in the year
Decrease due to impairment of contract assets
Transfer of contract assets to receivables
Adjustment of contract assets for reduction of
revenue due to contract modification during

the year

BREERFAR
EX2H

MR E R L ETIE I
RELNEEREMmRD
BRANEESRITOR

R EZ R HE

2022
HK$’000
FHET

- 150,780

170,858 91,090

105,128 -

275,986 241,870

2022

—_—=

HK$’000
TR

26,901
(400)
(31,531)

FARANETRIREHENEE

MR
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1 9 CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

The Group's contract assets are analysed as follows:

Contract assets AREE
Unbilled revenue ENGESION
Retention monies receivables FEUURE S

The carrying amounts of the Group's contract assets are denominated in
HKS.

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned from contract
works as the Group’s rights to receive consideration from its customers
are conditional upon the completion of surveys of works carried out.
Upon completion of the surveys of work, payment certificates would
then be issued, upon which the Group’s right to consideration become
unconditional and the amounts recognised as contract assets are
reclassified to trade receivables. Typically, the time interval between the
performance of works and the Group's right to consideration becoming
unconditional range from 1 to 12 months for the construction contracts
engaged by the Group (2021: from 1 to 12 months), except for retention

monies receivables (see below).

As at 31 March 2022, the balance of contract assets included retention
monies receivables from customers amounting to approximately
HK$26,420,000, net of provision for credit loss allowance (2021:
HKS$31,680,000). Retention monies receivables were to be settled in

accordance with the terms of respective contract.

The Group generally allows 5% to 10% of total contract price of its
contracts as retention (2021: 5% to 10%), which are unsecured, interest-
free and recoverable at the completion of the defect’s liability period of
individual contracts which range from 12 to 24 months from the date of
the completion of the respective contract (2021: 12 to 24 months). The
Group is responsible for rectifying defects or imperfections in relation to

the contract works done which are discovered after completion.

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #t %

iR a W% R 3R MY AT

AN /RF
/\\ ==

AEBENENEEINAOT

2022
—E=-=

HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi# T

TEC CFZH=A—HIFE

17,417 17,523
26,420 31,680
43,837 49,203

REBEHEENREEBYABITHE -

AR AEBEARF IR ERNEFRZEFIIZMATIE
TREHAEE  MANBENSRAHIIRFER
WS TERR » R ENE TIETEA & I8 BT 3RE - BB A
EEWBAENERBRAEEY  BERAEHNE
ENSHEBEETNSHEEHRIGE - MAEEREE
ETHRESAOME - AT IEZ RS ERIRE
IR ARG 2ANER -1 Z22EAT
Z(ZT-—F 1E1MEA)  EEKEEERINE
T o

R-ZZ-—F=A=+—8  AHNEELHEIERE
B ) FE IR E £ 4926,420,00058 7T (KR 2 B B 1B #
#)(ZF=—4 : 31,680,000/ 7T) ° EUWIRE L FER
BEAANIGEIETEE -

NEB—REBAHNBENEN%E10%(=F
Z—F  5%E10%) EARES o RES AEEE -
SERIRERNGHNHNREH(ESENTI AR
HRENTR2E4@AA(ZT=Z—F : 1252418A))
[EmEE - AREBEMFEBRBEAMETEHNIER
75 T 1% 3530 A ERBA SR -

MEEIREEERARAE S5 E 00
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R
pod
19. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued) 19. BHNEE
The due date for settlement of the Group’s retention monies receivables LTARZZ_ZFR-F-_—F=A=1T—HER
are based on the completion of defects liability period as at 31 March BHERRENAEEREKRESHIIEA
2022 and 2021 as follows:
2022
—s-=
HK$’000
FET
Due within one year —FREIH 21,624 20,089
Due more than one year il —FEH 4,796 11,591
26,420 31,680
The entire balance of the Group's retention monies receivables as at 31 RIEZ—FR-T-—F=A=1+—HFKEEEK
March 2022 and 2021 were not yet due. The Group does not hold any RES 2 AR RAREIE - REEWEHE B
collateral over this balance. FEAERERR -
The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for ECL prescribed AEBEAGEIRE BV R EERFE SR EET
by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss provision IRTEEEEEIBRE - BBV SRS EREOTET
for all contract assets. To measure the ECL, contract assets have been MABANEEFAZESEERE - AiT=28H
grouped based on individual risk assessment and/or collectively using EEEE - Af@ﬁ?*ﬁﬁ IE'JH@EWE&/@@FHE
a provision matrix with appropriate groupings. The ECL below also BENENEBEEESE - THBHREEBEITAA
incorporate forward-looking information. AEEER -
Provision for loss allowance in respect of retention monies receivables RZTEZ=F=A=+—H ?ﬁﬁ”ﬂlﬁ.%ﬂ'ﬂ@ﬁ%@ﬁ
as at 31 March 2022 includes an amount of approximately HK$1,536,000 PREBE-T - FR-TE—F=ZA=F+—HILF
(2021: HK$1,536,000) in respect of a customer which was individually EFk—BEERNFEADREERENTPHSE
assessed to be credit-impaired during the years ended 31 March 2022 #91,536,0008 7L(ZF = —4F : 1,536000/7T) ° ER
and 2021. Based on the Group's assessment of this customer is under AEEFEZEEFEIRENBEREFT  RZZT -
winding up process, a 100% (2021: 100%) expected loss rate was applied FZA-+—HNEXRERRESEEA10%(ZF
to the retention monies receivables outstanding as at 31 March 2022. 100%) FEHATE K % -
2022
—s-=
HK$’000
FER
ECL rate (average) TAHEEEER(F) 4.24% 3.03%
Gross carrying amount BRMEAE 45,777 50,743
ECL JEH =S8 1,940 1,540
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1 9 CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued) 9 |:| 1\\ EE
The movement in the provision for loss allowance in respect of contract BET-—FR-T-_—F=A=+—HIEFEN
assets during the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 was as follows: EREEBIEREZHNT ¢

Lifetime

ECL - credit-

Lifetime ECL impaired
ZHITAH

ZHEHY FEER-

FEER FERIE #5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TATT TAET THET

As at 1 April 2020 RZEZTFMNA—A 160 1,536 1,696
Reversal for the year FR#EE (156) = (156)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 RZE-_—F=R=+—H

E—T-—FPA—H 4 1,536 1,540
Provision for the year FNREE 105 295 400
At 31 March 2022 WZE-—F=A=+—H 109 1,831 1,940

=7 =+
20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. E5 N E MR

The Group's trading terms with other customers are mainly on credit. AEBHEAEMEE 2 EFEFNMEERE {EE%@—
The credit terms generally range from 17 to 33 days (2021: 17 to 33 days). Eeol ?1751335(_:: Z—% :17HE33R) -
Each customer has a maximum credit limit. For new customers, payment BRI AER=EERE - RFP— ﬁﬁiﬁiﬁgﬂ $
in advance is normally required. The Group seeks to maintain strict E@ﬁ(j}ﬁﬂ%ﬁ FIE MR B 2 FEURGRIE - EREE
control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed EERETTEHIRET o

regularly by the Directors.

2022 2021
—Z=—-=

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

Trade receivables E S REWE 12,795 23,163
Provision made for the year FRELREE (227) (143)
Carrying amount REE 12,568 23,020
Other receivables H b el IR 7,428 9,857
Provision for loss allowance BB (27) =
Carrying amount BREE 7,401 9,857
19,969 32,877
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continvess 20, B

The aging analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice date, and

net of allowance, is as follows:

H 1t FEWCRRTE (40)
ﬁ%lﬁ%ﬂﬁlﬁlﬁwﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁmﬁﬁéﬁ A EZ BRER A 4n
T

0to 30 days 0230H

31 to 60 days 31260H
61 to 90 days 61£290H
Over 90 days B0 H

Reconciliation of loss allowance for trade receivables:

2022
HK$'000
FET
11,802 17,559
759 4,498
= 769
7 194
12,568 23,020

B RYESRERBE 2 HER

2022
—E——

HK$'000

At 1 April REUA—A
Increase in loss allowance for the year FREBEEILMN
Reversal for the year F AN

At 31 March R=A=+—H

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to provide
for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected loss provision
for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit losses also

incorporate forward looking information.
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143 146
84 -

227 143

AEBEEABEVHRELENESE 2% - ptAr
BESEES IE@EFH?%@?E%@ESE%%J%?EHHE,\
B - R ERREEEER  BZRUFUARCEH
EERRSERAHRENE - BHEE EETE)T’EA
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES conines 20. B 5 R H A FEURFIE )

31to60days 61to90days Over90days
Current past due past due past due Total

318 61 B HEER

L Z60H £90H 90H Foe
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT TAT FHET FAT FET

At 31 March 2022 RZEZZF=A=1—H
Weighted average expected loss rate  DI4E-F19TaEIIB k& 0.64% 0.65% 0.00% 95.42%
Receivable amount JENGIR 11,878 764 - 153 12,795
Loss allowance EERE 76 5 = 146 227
At 31 March 2021 RZB-—F=A=+—H
Weighted average expected lossrate A5 IE L R 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 4243%
Receivable amount PR IE 22057 769 = 337 23163
Loss allowance EiERRE - - = 143 143
Reconciliation of loss allowance for other receivables: At FEMGRIE B 18 4 2 $90R -
2022
—s—=
HK$’000
FE T
At 1 April REA—R - 22
Increase in loss allowance for the year FAEER AL M 27 =
Reversal for the year FEREE - (22)
At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 27 -
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21. BANK AND CASH BALANCES

21. SRITRIRELEER

RITRE
FEHERITER

Cash at banks
Short-term bank deposit

Less: Pledged bank deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

The carrying amounts of the Group's cash and cash equivalents are

denominated in HKS.

The Group's pledged bank deposits represented deposits pledged to
banks to secure banking facilities granted to the Group. The deposits are
in approximately HK$5,208,000 (2021: approximately HK$5,202,000) and
at fixed interest rate of 0.35% per quarter (2021: 0.09%) and therefore are
subject to fair value interest rate risk. The maturity of this deposit is 92
days (2021: 92 days).

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

B BEIRRITER

ReLBREEED

2022
==

HK$'000

FET
39,308 37,568
5,208 5202
44,516 42,770
(5,208) (5,202)
39,308 37,568

FEERERBSEBY 2 REBEAETIE -

AEBZEERRITERACERTFRITZFR -
LEARTAEERITEEZER - ZEROA
5,208,000 7C(ZF = —4F : 495,202,000/ 7T) * &[E
EMEGEE035%(ZF=—4%F : 009%) - I&t@
BRATENERRERR - ZEFANIEEAR2A(Z
——F 1 92H) -

H B FRIR

Trade payables B SR FIE

Accruals and other payables
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FEET & A R H b B 50R

2022 2021
—E=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH FHT
15,178 13,025
2,748 1,089
17,926 14,114
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Ht B TR )

RIFWE B HHE 2 N IR BRER DT AT

22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 22

The aging analysis of trade payables, based on the date of receipt of

goods, is as follows:

2022
—s=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH T
0to 30 days 0230H 15,148 12,965
31 to 60 days 31£260H 30 60
15,178 13,025

23. LEASE LIABILITIES 23. HHEAE

Present value of

Lease payments lease payments

HENR HENRERE
2022 2022
—=E—-= —E-—fF =
HK$’000 HKS'000 HK$’000
FET FAT FExT
Within one year —&FR 142 142 138 133
In the second to fifth years, inclusive % —EFAF(BIEEEMRF) - 142 - 138
142 284
Less: Future finance charges W ARREE (4) (13)
Present value of lease liabilities HEAaERE 138 271 138 271

Less: Amount due for settlement
within 12 months (shown

under current liabilities)

Amount due for settlement after

12 months

A F02{E A AR BN R4S
ZHFRGISRSEE)

R12E R BRI HWELE 2
/TAIE

At 31 March 2022, the average effective borrowing rate was 4.75% (2021:

4.75%). Interest rates are fixed at the contract dates and thus expose the

Group to fair value interest rate risk.

(138) (133)

= 138

R-B-—F=A=+—0  BEXFHEENEA
475%( ZZFB = —4%F 1 475%)  FIRTIR AL BHE
F MBI AEEERA T ENRRR
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24. DEFERRED TAX

The following are the major deferred tax (liabilities) and assets recognised
by the Group.

At 1 April 2020 RZTZFTFMNA—A
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss for R EE25(FBR) K%
the year (Note 9) (FsE9)

24. IEIEFHIE
EEFBEUN TN AAEERAZ TEREHE(EE) X

Loss
allowance

on financial

assets and Accelerated
contract tax
Tax losses assets depreciation
SREER
BHREE IR E
HIEE BEEE e Y
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Tt T THT T

RZTEZ—F=A=+—HKk
—E_—FMA—H
(Charged)/credited to profit or loss for A BI85 (FK ), KR
the year (Note 9) (Mi3E9)

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021

At 31 March 2022 R-ZEBE-_—_F=A=+—8H

1,199 308 (618) 889
(622) (30) 249 (403)
577 278 (369) 486

(577) 84 276 (217)

= 362 (93) 269

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for
statement of financial position purposes:

EIERIABE
EIERIAEE

Deferred tax liabilities
Deferred tax assets

At the end of the reporting period the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$54,157,000 (2021: approximately HK$20,545,000)
available for offset against future profits. A deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of approximately HKSNil (2021: approximately
HK$3,500,000) of such losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the remaining approximately HK$54,157,000 (2021:
HK$17,045,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The
unused tax losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
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M BIRRERM - RERIAS SR (REHER) 20

T

2022 2021

—E-— —E

HK$'000 HK$'000

Tt FHT
(93) (369)

362 855

269 486

REREER - NEEGAREA RIS EEL54,157,000
BIL(ZFZ—F © 49205450007 7T) A FA1EK S
KACHEF - ERBZERFHOTEL(ZEZ—F - 4
3,500,000/ 7T ) MERRIEE R TR & FE © 82 4954,157,000
BIL(ZT=—1F 1 17,0450007 70 ) B A T8 B K 26
wRRE - MW AERREEHIEEE - ZADARYG
EIE AR 4 o
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25. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 (2021: HK$0.01) each

At 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021

Share consolidation (Note (ii))

At 31 March 2022

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.05 (2021: HK$0.01) each

At 1 April 2020
Issue of shares on placement (Note (i)

At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021

Share consolidation (Note (ii))
Issuance of shares upon rights issue (Note (iii))

At 31 March 2022

n\/-_]_\

For the year ended 31 March 2022

25. fR7A

Notes:

0]

(i)

On 12 November 2020, the Company and Wellington Financial Limited
entered into a placing agreement in respect of the placement of 98,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each to independent investors at a price of
HK$0.05 per share. The placement was completed on 27 November 2020
and the premium on the issue of shares, amounting to approximately
HK$3,920,000, net of share issue expenses of approximately HK$186,000,
was credited to the Company’s share premium account.

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed on 30 April 2021, every 5
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the issued and unissued share capital of
the Company were consolidated into one consolidated ordinary share of
HK$0.05 each in the issued and unissued share capital of the Company.

On 11 June 2021, the Company completed the rights issue and allotted
and issued 69,800,000 shares, on the basis of 1 rights share for every 2
shares at the subscription price of HK$0.215 per rights share. Gross rights
issue proceeds of approximately HK$15,007,000 of which approximately
HK$3,490,000 was credited against share capital and the remaining
proceeds of approximately HK$10,291,000 was after offsetting the share
issuance costs of approximately HK$1,226,000 were credited against the
share premium account.

Number of
Shares Amount
BHEE x-]
‘000 HK$'000
T T
VETE
FR005BTT(Z T —F : 001/B7T) 2
LA
R_ZE-_ZFNA—B —FT=—F
ZA=+—HERZZE=—FmMA—H 1,500,000 15,000
B 10 & OF (B EEG)) (1,200,000) =
RZEZ=F=A=+—H 300,000 15,000
BEITRAR :
BROSBIL(ZEZ—F : 001/8T) 2
AL
R-ZZE-ZFMA—H 600,000 6,000
Ao & R B TRR 1 (I EG)) 98,000 930
RZZEZ—F=A=+—AK
—ZT-—FmA—H 698,000 6,980
ﬁé\@%(fﬁﬁi i) (558,400) -
HEAZ1Z BT (B =EGil)) 69,800 3,490
RZZE-_—F=A=+—H 209,400 10,470
GEE
() RoZ-ZF+—A+-H ARATHEREESRE
RARGI R EHHE - RABEUERSETTZE
A B S 1% & & B 98,000,000 F I EIE0.01 B T 2 &
BR -BEER-ZT-_TF+—A=t+tA=MK " &
1TRR AR 2 3% 8 493,920,0007 7T (FNBR AR AR 21T &Y
186,000/ 70 )5t AR A AL Z IR D /R BHR ©
(i) *ETFEA_;_ FHA=+HBANEMREER &K
NAEIBEITRARBITRAP GSREGREMBE0NET
ZEBREAMAARRDEITRAREITRAFHN—
SRR EE H0.05B TR A HHE @Ak -
(iii) RZBZ—FXA+T—RH  AARERZHAH

BEA2RBRNITIRREETREKRRKRG 02155
TR IRERRMD 2 EETRMR - W ER
2% 1769,800,000 X I& 15 - HRM FTIS N IBREBE AL
15,007,000/8 7T * & 7 493,490,000/ TR AN ALR » &
MR D 31T £91,226,000/8 7018 + 82 TS EIE
#910,291,00078 7T B R DR EER AR ©

HERIBEEERERLAT —© 000 R
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26. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

OF THE COMPANY

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries

Equity investment at fair value through other

comprehensive income

Current assets
Prepayment
Amount due from a subsidiary

Bank and cash balances

Current liabilities
Other payables

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

NET ASSETS

Capital and reserves
Share capital

Reserves

TOTAL EQUITY

FRBEE
RIE R RHRE

BAFEF AR R E 2 BRARE

RBEE
Taf R

[ U —FEIFfT B A BIRRIA

RITRINE M

RBAE
HABREN R

RBEEFE

REERABEE

FEE

BERRRE

N

(GG

RERAE
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26. A T Z BEAR R 3%

2022

———

—_—

HK$’000
TR

2021

—E -
HK$'000
FHT

41,500 41,500
70 70
41,570 41,570
105 213
37,518 38,488
11,736 4,867
49,359 43,568
45 45

45 45
49,314 43,5523
90,884 85,093
90,884 85,093
10,470 6,980
80,414 78,113
90,884 85,093




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

27. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

(c)

Group

The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements therein
are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income and consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

Company

BB R R M

TEC CFZH=A—HIFE

:v/T\

For the year ended 31 March 2022 #t %
27. &

(a) Z&K£EE

&E@i@”ﬂlﬁ%%&i“\?éﬁn“ifjﬁI*J

(b) ZAAT

Share
premium

Other
reserve
Hitif#
HKS$'000
FHET

Retained
Total
st
HK$'000
FHET

earnings
RERR
HK$'000
T

BAE
HK$'000
AT

At 1 April 2020 RZZE-_ZTFMNA—H 53,987 41,500 (19,385) 76,102
Loss and total comprehensive FABBREEAS

expense for the year 4BEE = = (1,723) (1,723)
Issue of shares on placement Ao & B BT TAR D (I 7E2503)

(Note 25(1) 3,734 - - 3,734
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 ﬁé:7_ F=A=1+—H

r—E-—FMA—AH 57,721 41,500 (21,108) 78,113

Loss and total comprehensive FABBREEMASZRE

expense for the year - - (7,989) (7,989)
Issuance of shares upon rights HARE BTG

issue (Note 25(iii)) (BREE25(ii) 10,291 - - 10,291
At 31 March 2022 RZEZ-_F=R=+—H 68,012 41,500 (29,097) 80,415

Nature and purpose of reserves
1) Share premium account

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
funds in the share premium account of the Company
are distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on which
the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts as they fall due in
the ordinary course of business.

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue
of shares at a price in excess of their par value per share
and is not distributable but may be applied in paying
up unissued shares of the Company to be issued to the
shareholders of the Company as fully paid bonus shares or
in providing for the premiums payable on repurchase of
shares.

(i)  Otherreserve

Other reserve represents the difference between the
nominal value of the shares issued by the Company in
exchange for the nominal value of the share capital of its
subsidiaries arising from the Reorganisation.

(0 fEENMEENBN
@ R EEE
REF SRS AR L AR ARDEE
ZESTHRIRTARRBRE - R
HHIRMS A ER - ARABERE
EEEN AR ERBRP R R -

s EiEERBERGREE BEE
TROMELZEE  BTEHK - I
SR AR Z P AR BT T
ARABRRZARBRETRMDEAR
SARB R B 2 (E -

i) REftFEE
HibFEEBIEN X BHER AREAR
M B A RRAMBARA Tﬁéﬁﬂxﬁwﬁ
EHEZERATMBEZZHE -

MEEIREBZERARAA

TR FFEERE
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R
28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 28. BB IR HEET 3
The Company's share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted AARMBE—EHRZZ—+tFNATHUEBBARZE
pursuant to a resolution passed on 14 September 2017. The Scheme is to MBI B (&t 8) - ZAt 85 ERS Rig
attract and retain the best personnel, to provide additional incentive to BHREFHAE  REZENEER2EERME
the eligible participants under the Scheme. SNEETRD -
Under the Scheme, the Directors of the Company may at their absolute BARZET & - ARREE A 2B RIBEZ 28
discretion and subject to the terms of the Scheme, grant options ERAAEEE(EE (2B FED) £F - &7
to any employees (full-time or part-time), Directors, consultants, A B FERE - SR AR - fER - R
advisors, substantial shareholder, distributors, contractors, suppliers, BB - EBUSRSHEERR L ERE - R
agents, customers, business partners or service providers of the KRR - ARSEEEREREBREZ EE &
Group, to subscribe for shares of the Company. The eligibility of any HBARAIEE(RERAME - HARRFELIFRIT
participants to the grant of any options shall be determined by the BE)TRETE EERESHEEMNAEEERR
Directors of the Company (or as the case maybe, the independent non- BREAMFEMVBEERMZER °
executive Directors of the Company) from time to time on the basis
of the Directors’ opinion as to their contribution or potential to the
development and growth of the Group.
The aggregate number of the Company’s shares which may be EATEERIEZ At 8 AR BME R E bR AT 81 2 %
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be HE AR TR A 2 BB AR TR BB AR M I 1] BE BT AV AR
exercised under the Scheme and any other share options schemes of RNAIRMBE - TEBBARRTHREBITRGOSN
the Company must not exceed 30% of the Company's shares in issue 30% o WARIREZ AT Bk AN B o] E A BE AR A 5T E13%
from time to time. No options may be granted under the Scheme or any HEERERSEA LR - NS EARE - BN
other share options schemes of the Company if this will result in the limit AR AT IR ZET 8 RAA R b R AR ST
being exceeded. The maximum number of shares issuable upon exercise ZHE TREMNABEBREMA TEITHROEE &
of all options to be granted under the Scheme and any other share R AHTEBEARD EMREENBIMERE
option schemes of the Company as from the adoption date must not in A2 B BITIRDAN10% o _EFR10% 7] BE R & A RQ ]
aggregate exceed 10% of all the shares in issue upon the date on which IRRTERR R AR S EHLEBES - A TTERIRZETE
the shares are listed and permitted to be dealt in the Stock Exchange. KR BT EL A BB AR AT B T 45 1 A0 2 DR e
The 10% limit may be refreshed at anytime by approval of the Company’s MAJRE BTV R RIR (D AB B - NS BBB LT
shareholders in general meeting provided that the total number of the EREBARABDEHITRNDEII0% °
Company's shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to
be granted under the Scheme and any other share options schemes of
the Company must not exceed 10% of the Company’s shares in issue as
at the date of approval of the refreshed limit.
120 NOBLE ENGINEERING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2022




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

28 SHARE OPT'ON SCHEME (Continued)

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted to each participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) under the Scheme or any other share option
schemes of the Company in any 12-month period up to date of grant
shall not exceed 1% of the total number of shares of the Company in
issue. Where any further grant of options to a participant under the
Scheme would result in the shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of all options granted and to be granted to such participant (including
lapsed or exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such further grant representing
in aggregate over 1% of the total number of shares in issue, such further
grant must be separately approved by shareholders of the Company
in general meeting with such participant and his/her close associates

abstaining from voting.

Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or any of their respective associates
must be approved by the independent non-executive Directors of the
Company (excluding any independent non-executive Director who is the
grantee). Where any share options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive Director of the Company, or any
of their respective close associates would result in the total number
of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options already
granted and to be granted (including options exercised, cancelled and
outstanding) under the Scheme and any other share option schemes
of the Company to such person in any 12-month period up to and
including the date of such grant representing in aggregate over 0.1%
of the shares of the Company in issue and having an aggregate value in
excess of HK$5 million must be approved by the Company’s shareholders
at the general meeting of the Company, with voting to be taken by way

of poll.

The offer of a grant of share options might be accepted in writing
within 21 days from the date of the offer. An option may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during a period
as the Directors may determine which shall not exceed ten years from
the date of grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof. A
nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of
an option with a remittance in favour of the Company within such time as
may be specified in the offer (which shall not be later than 21 days from
the date of the offer).

e MR

Fortheyearended 31 March 2022 #Z —F -~ —#=H=+—HIFFZF

8. BRI Bl

BEREBHILERA2EABER - BITEBEZ
AR AR EMBRES R TR 2EE R
R (BEEITE R ARITEBRE) ME BT RET
BT RN BE  THRBHARREBITRNERZ
1% ° A aZat B2 EEE - PREBRESTHE
EZE—HFEERBM(BEZR) EREABREA -
THRERTRER TZE2REZRMEBRE(ERE
EARBEEITE - CREREARITERBRE) ME %
TRETEITZED - &HBAEREBITROEE
1%0A £ - BIERIE — PR H SRR R BBRRNK
RAG LA1THME - MR EE REBEAMBER

Z= 4T
RIXCR °©

AARRES  TBTHABRTERRAKRESH
RSB AR B EAIBARE - ALK RAREILIE
WTEE (T RES RERAZEABIIIFNITES)
A - WA ARBERRRLBLIFRITEETRNE
FEAZEAZTHBEARDERBRE  SREEE
EH A (REZE) ILERN2EABER - BEiTER
EZA I AR RHEM A BT EIE R LA
ITRHABTREZAERERE(RECDTR - B
R EARTTEBRE) Mo BITRE TRITZBNE
g AHBHARREHEITRNZ01%  BREES
SABET  MASARABRRRARFRRAE £
PARERRIR T AL

EERE s 2ROANRENR MR BAANER
B - AR AR NEEN BT 2N - BB IRIEZ
FHELZ ERITR BB - N SEE AR L A A
TH  IXBRIRMKLGEXAER - ZRERZ
BRER - ARAEREZLOEEIIAZERA (TG
ERBELH AR B)RARRMBTEER

BERIBEEERERLAT —© 000 RE

>
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28.

29.

SHARE OPT'ON SCHEME (Continued)

The subscription price shall be a price solely determined by the board
of Directors of the Company and notified to a participant and shall be
at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date; (ii)
the average closing prices of the Company's shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the 5 business days immediately
preceding the date; and (jii) the nominal value of the Company’s share
on the offer date.

The Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on 14 September 2017, subject to early termination
provisions contained in the Scheme.

No share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed since the
adoption of the Scheme and there were no share option outstanding as
at 31 March 2022 and 2021.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities

The following table shows the Group's changes in liabilities arising from
financing activities during the year:

28.

29. %

Bt El e

RBERARRESELRETTAN2EE - 2E
EBRIVARTIEERZERE  ((BATARE
RITRARBRDNEES AR ZWHE : (EFME
BREXRABARBTRMOREEZL B AT A EZ %
BZFHRHE R BHRPHZ ARRRMNEE -

Zit8l =T —
&EE)& W52

tFENATEAEEA +FHERNER
ZaTBIFTE 2 RRATAR L IESCATIRIR -

BERMZETBIAR - B EE - BT - B
SRMOBRE TR-B-_FR-T-—F=A
=+ — BB R TR AAE

mERSRERME
RETHEE QMY

TRINTFAREEREFDELZBEE

Total liabilities
Lease from flnancmg

liabilities

BRAMHE
HK$'000
T

EEZBER
HK$'000
THAT

At 1 April 2020 RZZE-ZFMA—H 132 132
Change in cash flows Benes (135) (135)
Non-cash changes FReHE

- Additions —ANE 271 271

— Interest charges — X HLE 3 3
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R-E-_—FZA=+—HK

T —-FMA—H 271 271

Change in cash flows ReREEs) (142) (142)
Non-cash changes JEIR & E

— Interest charges —ZFE 9 9
At 31 March 2022 RZE-—F=HA=+—H 138 138
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30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION 30. BERRS
In addition to those related party transactions and balances disclosed RZENFENBREEMIBOMREZBEARS
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group had the RSN AEBPNFNEEBERZZ 0T ¢

31.

following transactions with its related parties during the year:

2022
—E—— :
HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT FHT

Lease payments paid to Directors and their spouses  [M&E S R EREE M 2 BAENK 114 114
APPROVAL OF CONSOLIDATED 31. #ETI B EMBIRK
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
These consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised EREU B BRREARAESEN T __F<A
for issue by the board of Directors of the Company on 17 June 2022. BRI o

BERIREEERERAT — T G5 0ms 123




Five-Year Financial Summary

AFEHHHRE

The following is a summary of the audited results and of the assets and liabilities THDNBE_ZE__F=A=+—HIAFNFEELE
of the Group for the five years ended 31 March 2022. BREEANREERBENOHE -

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEE
2022 2021 2018

—E-—F 2 == y =
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiB Tt F T

RESULTS ES
Revenue ek 275,626 326,662 223,132 364,165 408,944
Gross (l0ss)/profit EUR)F (23,886) 3,687 1478 29,837 42,399
(Loss)/profit before income tax KR ET1SFL AT (E518), 5% 7 (36,203) 8112) (9,609) 14,455 18,667
(Loss)/profit and total FA(ER),HFHEER

comprehensive (expense)/ (FX) ks

income for the year (36,420) (8,515) (8,372) 11,930 13,241
(Loss)/profit and total FiN/NEIE 2= DN S

comprehensive (expense)/ (B1]),/#FHkEE
income attributable to owners  (BAsz), W z5 4858
of the Company (36,420) (8,515) (8,372) 11,930 13,241

At 31 March

2022 2019 2018

—E-= T = —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT THET THET THET THET

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERAE

Total assets WEE 110,320 129,280 140,356 142,120 149,920
Total liabilities FEN=NE (18,064) (14,385) (21,660) (15,052) (35,089)
Total equity attributable to KRATGEE AN

ESN

GRP

i
)

owners of the Company 92,256 114,895 118,696 127,068 114,831

124 NOBLE ENGINEERING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2022




Noble Engineering Group Holdings Limited
BTERIBREEEZEREBERAA



	封面
	香港聯合交易所有限公司（「聯交

所」）GEM的特色
	目錄
	公司資料
	主席報告
	管理層討論及分析
	董事及高級管理層
	企業管治報告
	環境、社會及管治報告
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合損益及其他全面收益表
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表


	綜合財務報表附註
	五年財務概要
	封底



